

No 2011 - 13 May 2011

Impacts of Immigration on Aging Welfare-State An Applied General Equilibrium Model for France

Xavier Chojnicki and Lionel Ragot

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Non-technical summary.	3						
Abstract	5						
Résumé non technique	6						
Résumé court	7						
1. Introduction	9						
2. An AGEM-OLG model with heterogeneous agents	12						
2.1. Demographics	13						
2.2. Technology	14						
2.3. Preferences	15						
2.4. Educational decisions	17						
2.5. Wage and unemployment	18						
2.6. Labor supply, education, and experience	19						
2.7. The public sector	20						
3. Baseline calibration	23						
3.1. Demographic data	23						
3.2. Observed exogenous processes	24						
3.3. Parameters	25						
3.4. Unobserved exogenous processes	25						
4. The baseline scenario	26						
4.1. The population	26						
4.2. The social protection budget	28						
5. The impact of immigration on public finances	30						
	30						
5.2. A France without immigration: impact on public finances	33						
5.3. The contribution of a selective immigration policy to finance social protection 30							
6. Conclusion	39						
List of working papers released by CEPII.	42						

IMPACTS OF IMMIGRATION ON AGING WELFARE-STATE AN APPLIED GENERAL EQUILIBRIUM MODEL FOR FRANCE

NON-TECHNICAL SUMMARY

Recent demographic projections set France in a more favorable situation compared with its main partners of the European Union. With a fertility rate which remains one of the highest in Europe since the early 2000s, fears of a declining population have disappeared in the absence of a major trend shift. However, life expectancy continues ti increase and should generate the phenomenon of demographic aging in France. The old age dependency ratio (population aged 65 and over related to the population aged 16-64) should increase from around 25% in 2000 to nearly 45% in 2050. With a welfare system essentially based on upward redistribution, this aging population will mechanically result in a deterioration of public finances. The social protection expenditures will increase by nearly 2.3 points of GDP from 2010 to 2050 and then stabilize during the second half of the century. Therefore, financial needs should reach 3 points of GDP from 2050, while the social protection budget was broadly at equilibrium in 2000. Ageing thus constitute a burden for social protection finances.

In this context, immigration is an important variable both through its direct effects on public finances and as an instrument of policy seeking to reduce the aging process (in the early 2000s, replacement migration was intended to partially counteract the predicted demographic decline). In this paper, we try to assess and quantify, using a dynamic general equilibrium model, direct and indirect immigration impacts on French social protection finances. Taking into account the (many) indirect effects of immigration requires using a general equilibrium framework. Indeed, immigration affects the host country economy, and thus its public finances, through various channels:

- The supply shock on the labor market. The entry of new workers affects the productivity of production factors, thus altering their remuneration. A redistribution process then appears from workers to physical capital owners.
- Another redistribution between workers is also at work. Immigrants are generally less skilled than natives. Their arrival then causes a downward pressure on low-skilled workers wages and an increase of the skill premium.
- The fiscal impact of immigration depends on the type of migrant considered, on the age structure of migration flows an even more on their skill level.
- Changes in wages, interest rates and public finances, resulting from a significant immigrants inflow, would change native behavior, particularly their educational choices, their saving and their work supply.

The general equilibrium approach has the advantage of allowing simultaneous assessment of all the mechanisms described above and their interaction.

The baseline scenario is based on the latest population projections from INSEE available when building the model. Four simulations are then performed with the aim to quantify the immigration effects on the French social protection finances. The first one assumes that net migration flows are nil from the base year and for all subsequent years. The three other scenarios are the opposite of the first one, measuring the effect of a more ambitious migration policy in level. More precisely, we study the effects of an additional inflow that may be considered as "realistic" (corresponding to net inflows that have characterized the second great wave of immigration in France in the twentieth century, i.e. between 1954 and 1961). These three variants only differ in terms of the skill structure of new migrants (with a skill structure of new migrants that matches that of total population from the baseline scenario (i), or a skill structure of new migrants similar to the one of the highly skilled native generation (iii)).

Variantial results show that immigration positively affects French social protection finances. Immigration, as projected in official forecasts, reduces the tax burden of an aging population. Without migration, the financial need of social protection at the end of the century would increase by 2 percentage points of GDP, from 3% to about 5% of GDP. These benefits are mainly explained by the age structure of net flows, younger than the French population as a whole, and mostly affect unsurprisingly the two pillars of social protection the most sensitive to demographic changes: pensions and health. For similar reasons, a more ambitious migration policy would contribute to reducing the tax burden of an aging population. But the financial gains are relatively moderate in comparison to the demographic changes it implies: a burden reduction between 20% and 30% depending on the selectivity degree is combined with an increase of the working age population between 16% and 20% and an immigrant share that will double by the end of the century. A more selective policy (in favor of skilled workers) can amplify these gains in the shortmedium term while reducing demographic changes but in relatively low proportions. Most importantly, and contrary to popular belief in the public debate, this improvement is only temporary. In the long term, demographic changes of a more selective immigration policy (skilled migrants have lower fertility rates and a longer life expectancy) outweigh its positive effects compared to a non-selective policy.

ABSTRACT

Immigration is often perceived as an instrument of adaptation for aging countries. In this paper, we evaluate, using a dynamic general equilibrium model, the contribution of migration policy in reducing the tax burden associated with the aging population in France. Four variants, compared to a baseline scenario based on official projections for France (INSEE, COR, etc.), are simulated with the aim to quantify the immigration effects on the French social protection finances. The first variant assesses the economic effects of immigration in France as projected into official forecasts. The three other variants are built on the same more ambitious annual quantitative flows of immigrants (corresponding to net inflows that have characterized the second great wave of immigration in France in the twentieth century). These three variants only distinguish in terms of the skill structure of new migrants. We show that the age and skill structure of immigrants is the key feature that mainly determines the effects on social protection finances. Overall, these effects are all the more positive in the short-medium term that the migration policy is selective (in favor of more skilled workers). In the long term, beneficial effects of a selective policy may disappear. But the financial gains from more consequent migration flows are relatively moderated in comparison of demographic changes it implies.

JEL Classification: C68, D58, E60, H55, H68, J61

Keywords: Migration, CGEM, Overlapping generations, Aging, Public finance, Social protection

IMMIGRATION, VIEILLISSEMENT DÉMOGRAPHIQUE ET FINANCEMENT DE LA PROTECTION SOCIALE : UNE ÉVALUATION PAR L'ÉQUILIBRE GÉNÉRAL CALCULABLE APPLIQUÉ À LA FRANCE

RÉSUME NON TECHNIQUE

Les nouvelles perspectives démographiques positionnent la France dans une situation plus favorable par rapport à ses principaux partenaires de l'Union Européenne. Avec une fécondité qui reste l'une des plus élevées d'Europe depuis le début des années 2000, le spectre d'un déclin démographique n'est plus à craindre en l'absence d'un renversement de tendance majeur. Néanmoins, l'allongement de l'espérance de vie se poursuit et devrait nourrir le phénomène de vieillissement démographique en France. Le ratio de dépendance (population des 65 ans et plus rapportée à la population des 16-64 ans) devrait passer d'un peu plus de 25% en 2000 à près de 45% en 2050. Avec un système de protection sociale essentiellement ascendant (caractérisé en grande partie par des transferts des actifs vers les plus âgés), ce vieillissement démographique se traduira mécaniquement par une dégradation des finances de la protection sociale. Les dépenses de protection sociale gagneront près de 5,8 points de PIB entre 2000 et 2050 et 2,3 points entre 2010 et 2050, pour ensuite se stabiliser sur la deuxième partie du siècle. En termes de besoin de financement, ceux-ci devraient atteindre 3 points de PIB à partir de 2050, alors que le budget de la protection sociale était globalement équilibré en 2000. Le vieillissement démographique constitue un véritable fardeau pour les finances de la protection sociale.

Dans ce contexte, l'immigration devient une variable importante, tant par ses effets directs sur les finances publiques (les immigrés pèseraient négativement sur les comptes de la protection sociale) que comme instrument des politiques cherchant à réduire le processus de vieillissement démographique (au début des années 2000, une immigration de "remplacement" était envisagée pour contrecarrer en partie le déclin démographique annoncé). Notre objectif dans cet article est d'évaluer et quantifier, à l'aide d'un modèle d'équilibre général calculable dynamique, les impacts (directs et indirects) de l'immigration sur les finances de la protection sociale française. La prise en compte des effets indirects, nombreux, nécessite de se placer dans un cadre d'équilibre général. En effet, l'immigration affecte l'économie du pays d'accueil, donc ses finances publiques, au travers de différents canaux :

- Le choc d'offre sur le marché du travail. L'entrée de nouveaux travailleurs affecte la productivité des facteurs de production, modifiant ainsi leur rémunération. Une redistribution s'opère dès lors des travailleurs vers les détenteurs du capital physique.
- Une autre redistribution, entre les travailleurs, est également à l'œuvre. Les immigrés étant généralement moins qualifiés que les natifs, leur arrivée entraîne une pression à la baisse du salaire des travailleurs peu qualifiés et une hausse de la prime de qualification.
- L'impact budgétaire de l'immigration dépend du type de migrant considéré, de la structure par âge des flux migratoires mais surtout de leur niveau de qualification.
- Les modifications des salaires, du taux d'intérêt et des finances publiques, consécutives à une entrée significative de nouveaux immigrés, ne sont pas sans effet sur les comportements des natifs; en particulier sur leur choix éducatif, d'épargne et d'offre de travail.

L'approche en équilibre général calculable présente l'intérêt de permettre d'évaluer simultanément l'ensemble des mécanismes décrits ci-dessus ainsi que leur interaction.

Le scénario central reprend les dernières projections démographiques de l'INSEE disponibles lors de la construction du modèle (basées notamment sur un solde migratoire net de 100 000 migrants par an). Quatre variantes sont réalisées. La variante sans immigration suppose que les flux nets de migrations sont nuls à partir de l'année de base (2000). L'écart variantiel mesure alors la situation économique avec et sans les flux migratoires prévus sur la période et permet ainsi de mesurer leur éventuelle contribution à la dégradation des comptes de la protection sociale. Les trois autres variantes prennent le contre-pied de la première, puisqu'il s'agit de mesurer les effets d'une immigration plus ambitieuse, en fonction de sa structure par qualification. Plus précisément nous étudions les effets d'un afflux supplémentaire pouvant être considéré comme "réaliste", correspondant aux flux qui ont caractérisé la deuxième grande vague d'immigration en France au XXème siècle (c'est-à-dire entre 1954 et 1961). Seul un degré de sélectivité plus ou moins exigeant au niveau de la structure par qualification des nouveaux entrants permet de distinguer ces 3 variantes. La variante *immigration non sélective* suppose une structure par qualification de l'ensemble des immigrés qui entrent dans le pays à chaque période similaire à celle des migrants du scénario central. La variante immigration neutre suppose une structure par qualification des entrants qui correspond à celle de la population totale du scénario central. Enfin, la variante immigration sélective suppose une structure par qualification des immigrés entrants similaire à celle de la génération des natifs les plus qualifiés).

Les résultats variantiels des simulations du modèle montrent que l'immigration a bien des effets sur les finances de la protection sociale en France. Ceux-ci sont globalement positifs. L'immigration, telle qu'elle est projetée dans les prévisions officielles, réduit le fardeau fiscal du vieillissement démographique. En son absence, le besoin de financement de la protection sociale à l'horizon du siècle augmente de 2 points de PIB, passant de 3% à environ 5% du PIB. Ces effets bénéfiques proviennent essentiellement de la structure par âge des flux nets, globalement plus jeunes que la population française dans son ensemble et affectent principalement, et sans surprise, les deux piliers de la protection sociale les plus sensibles aux évolutions démographiques : les retraites et la santé. Pour les mêmes raisons, une politique migratoire plus ambitieuse contribuerait à une réduction du fardeau fiscal du vieillissement démographique. Mais ces gains financiers sont relativement modérés en comparaison des évolutions démographiques qu'elle implique : une réduction de ce fardeau entre 20% et 30% suivant son degré de sélectivité pour une augmentation de la population en âge de travailler entre 16% et 20% et une part des immigrés dans cette population qui double d'ici la fin du siècle. Une politique plus sélective (en faveur des travailleurs qualifiés) permet d'amplifier ces gains à court-moyen terme tout en réduisant les évolutions démographiques, mais dans des proportions qui restent relativement faibles. Mais surtout, et contrairement à une idée reçue dans le débat public, cette amélioration n'est que temporaire. À plus long terme les transformations démographiques d'une immigration plus sélective, découlant de taux de natalité plus faibles et d'une espérance de vie plus élevée, compensent ses effets positifs par rapport à une politique non-sélective.

Résumé court

L'immigration est souvent avancée comme l'un des instruments d'adaptation des économies confrontées au phénomène du vieillissement démographique. Dans cet article, nous évaluons, à l'aide d'un modèle d'équilibre général calculable dynamique, la contribution d'une politique migratoire à la réduction du fardeau fiscal lié au vieillissement démographique en France. Quatre variantes, par rapport à un scénario central qui reprend les projections officielles pour la France (INSEE, COR....), sont réalisées, avec pour objectif de quantifier au mieux les effets de l'immigration sur les finances de la protection sociale. La première consiste à évaluer les effets économiques de l'immigration en France telle qu'elle est projetée dans ces prévisions officielles. Les trois autres sont construites sur l'hypothèse d'un flux annuel d'immigrés plus élevé (correspondant aux flux qui ont caractérisés la deuxième grande vague d'immigration en France au XXème siècle). Elles se différencient par le niveau de qualification des nouveaux entrants. Nous montrons que la structure par qualification et par âge des immigrés est une caractéristique essentielle qui détermine en grande partie les principaux effets sur les finances de la protection sociale. Globalement ceux-ci sont positifs et le sont d'autant plus, à court moyen-terme, que la politique migratoire est sélective (en faveur des plus qualifiés). A long-terme ces effets bénéfiques peuvent disparaître pour une politique très sélective. Cependant, les gains pour les finances publiques provenant de flux migratoires nets plus conséquents sont relativement modérés en comparaison des évolutions démographiques qu'ils impliquent.

Classification JEL: C68, D58, E60, H55, H68, J61

Mots clés : Immigration, MEGC, Générations Imbriquées, Vieillissement, Finances Publiques, Protection Sociale

IMPACTS OF IMMIGRATION ON AGING WELFARE-STATE AN APPLIED GENERAL EQUILIBRIUM MODEL FOR FRANCE¹

Xavier Chojnicki*, Lionel Ragot[†]

1. INTRODUCTION

France, like many European countries, is undergoing a process of population aging that is induced by the combined effect of lower birth rates and continually longer life expectancy. This new demographic change is temporary amplified by the aftershock of generations of *baby boomers*. After having provoked a transitory decrease in population age, these generations have now accelerated population aging as these *baby boomers* reach retirement age. With a welfare system essentially based on upward redistribution, population aging will weigh heavily on France's public finances. It is estimated that France will experience a transition from its current situation of approximately five retirees for every ten workers to eight retirees for every ten workers by 2050. The majority of reports and studies on this subject (Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites (2010) among others) agree on the magnitude of the burden that aging will place on the pension system. Therefore, the portion of the GDP necessary to finance pensions will increase from 11.6% in 2000 to more than 14.6% in 2050, resulting in a financing gap of almost 1.7% of the GDP. However, it is actually the entire set of expenditures for social welfare that will be affected by population aging, including not only health care expenditures but also family and unemployed expenditures.

Accentuated by the financial crisis of 2008-2009, concerns about the rising debt burden negatively impacts Europeans' perceptions of migrants, as indicated by data from the European Social Survey (Boeri and Brucker (2005)). These negative perceptions are associated with the notion that migrants, as beneficiaries of redistribution systems from social welfare programs, are a financial burden. These potential adverse effects have to be compared to labour market needs coming from a stagnant working-age population, the probable occurrence of sectoral shortages, and the increasing number of dependent elderly. The need to mitigate, as much as possible, the

^{1.} Correspondance: xavier.chojnicki@univ-lille2.fr

We thank Agnès Bénassy-Quéré, Gunther Capelle-Blancard, Christophe Destais, Jean-Christophe Dumont, and Hillel Rapoport for helpful comments and discussions. The usual disclaimer applies. Author are grateful for the financial support from the Mission recherche (MiRe) de la Direction de la Recherche, des Études, de l'Évaluation et des Statistiques (DREES), auprès du Ministère du travail, de la solidarité et de la fonction publique, du Ministère du budget, des comptes publics, de la réforme de l'État, du Ministère de la santé et des sports.

^{*.} EQUIPPE, Université Lille 2 et CEPII.

^{†.} EPEE et TEPP (FR CNRS no 3126), Université d'Evry, CEPII et chercheur associé à la Chaire Transitions démographiques, Transitions économiques (Fondation du risque).

announced negative effects of population decline on economic activity has led the debate on a policy of "replacement migration". Acting on the flows of immigrants, rather than on fertility rates, has the double advantage of having a rapid effect and of being more manageable by public authorities.

Therefore, this debate on replacement migrations arrives at the same time as that of selective migrant policies. Two arguments are generally given to promote such a shift in the immigration policy. A quota system ensures a better match between the supply of foreign labor and the specific needs of the host economy. In addition, the selection of skilled entrants into the country not only increases the workforce but also increases human capital. The second argument often given is relative to the net contribution of immigrants to public finances. Most studies ² indicate a relatively neutral effect of immigration on public finances. The magnitude of this effect, however, is dependent on the level of skills and on the age distribution of the immigrants. This is precisely the contribution of selective immigration to the reduction of the tax burden of population aging that we wish to evaluate.

There is significant literature on the impact of immigration on the labor market, on public finances, on economic growth, and on inequalities ³. However, the majority of these studies adopt the framework of partial equilibrium and are subject to three major drawbacks. First, the partial equilibrium framework, by definition, poorly captures the interdependencies between different markets or the response of natives to an immigration shock. Indeed, the geographic mobility of natives, the changes in their labor supply, and their educational choice must be integrated in the framework in order to properly capture the impact of immigration. Second, the absence of a unified framework makes the dissociation between minor and major effects from immigration extremely complicated. Although the largest strand of literature focuses on the labor market impact of immigration, this effect is possibly less important in size than fiscal responses or growth enhancing impacts. Finally, in the absence of a precise welfare criterion, partial equilibrium models fail at providing a global assessment of the effect of immigration on natives' well-being. A fully micro-founded general equilibrium model is required to derive the immigration impact on natives' level of utility.

Our model attempts to overcome these shortcomings. Most of the ingredients of the immigration literature are included in a harmonized framework where firms, the government, and heterogeneous households interact:

- The entry of new workers affects productivity of production factors (and hence wages and return to saving). Redistribution occurs from workers to suppliers of physical capital.
- Another redistribution between workers is also occurring. Immigrants are generally less skilled than natives; their arrival causes downward pressure on the wages of unskilled work-

^{2.} See Auerbach and Oreopoulos (2000) on the United States; Bonin et al. (2000) on Germany; Collado et al. (2003) on Spain; and Chojnicki (2006), Chojnicki (2011), and Monso (2008) on France.

^{3.} For a survey of literature on the economic effects of immigration, see Borjas (1999), Brücker et al. (2002), and Chojnicki (2004).

ers and increases pressure for training.

- The budgetary impact of immigration depends on the type of migrant considered, the age distribution of immigration flows, and also their skill level.
- Through its impact on wages, interest rates, and taxation, immigration induces indirect effects on natives' choices of labor supply, human capital investment, and saving.

The AGEM (Applied General Equilibrium Model) approach allows simultaneous assessment of all the mechanisms described above and their interactions. Two studies, Storesletten (2000) and Fehr et al. (2004), adopt a relatively similar analytical framework. Compared to these two studies, our model has several distinguishing characteristics:

- It is based on a complex socio-demographic block consisting of 48 different types of individuals in each period according to their age, education level, and place of birth. This block can reliably reproduce the past and future French demographic structure.
- In our model, migrants and natives differ in terms of human capital, financial wealth, and eligibility to receive social aid. Fehr et al. (2004) consider that a migrant will automatically adopt the characteristics of a native upon crossing the border. In the model of Storesletten (2000), immigrants, whatever their skill level, enter the U.S. without any capital.
- The manner in which immigrants affect wages and inequality depends strongly on the choice of a production function. An important characteristic of our model is that labor in efficiency units consists of three components: raw labor, experience, and education level. This approach is similar to the Mincerian model on wage determination. Rather than assuming the existence of multiple labor markets (for low-skilled workers, youth, etc.), we assume that workers of different age, skill, and origin offer different combinations of human capital and experience. The education and experience level of immigrants are different from those of natives; therefore, these two categories of workers become imperfect substitutes in the labor market.
- Inspired by neoclassical principle, our model assumes that markets are balanced by the free adjustment of prices, with the exception of the labor market. We adopt the wage-setting/price setting (WS-PS) approach to determine the equilibrium between levels of real wages and unemployment at the aggregate level. There are wage negotiations between (homogeneous) firms and unions that lead to a real wage determined by applying a mark-up. These negotiations take place independently by two unions representing the interests of unskilled workers and skilled workers, respectively.
- Our framework is based on accurate modeling of the French welfare system as it provides the basis of concerns for population aging and eventual excessive utilization of the system by immigrants.

The benchmark scenario (baseline) is built from the INSEE's demographic projections of 2006. Four alternative scenario were performed with the aim to better quantify the effects of immigration on the finances of social welfare in France. The first variant assumes that net immigration flows are zero from 2010 and for all subsequent years ("without immigration" scenario). The gap between the two scenario measure the economic situation with and without immigration planned for the period. The three other variants take the opposite view, making a more ambitious effort to measure the effects of immigration as a function of its skill structure. We study the effects of an additional inflow that may be considered as "realistic" (corresponding to flows that have characterized the second great wave of immigration in France in the 20th century between 1954 and 1961). Only the degree of selectivity, in terms of the skill structure of new immigrants, allows us to distinguish among these three scenarios.

We show that immigration, as projected in official forecasts, reduces the tax burden of an aging population. In its absence ("without immigration" variant), the financing needs of social protection at the end of the century increase from 3% to approximately 5% of GDP. These benefits are mainly linked to the younger age distribution of net flows compared to the total French population and affect, principally and not surprisingly, the two pillars of welfare system most sensitive to demographic changes: pensions and health care. For similar reasons, a more ambitious immigration policy would contribute to reducing the tax burden of an aging population. However, the financial gains are relatively moderate in comparison to the demographic evolution it implies: a reduction of this burden between 20% and 30% depending on its degree of selectivity for a 16% to 20% increase in the working age population; in the same time, the number of immigrants in this population will double by the end of the century. A more selective policy (in favor of skilled workers) can amplify these gains in the short to medium term while reducing demographic changes in proportions that remain relatively low. Importantly, and contrary to popular belief in the public debate, this improvement is only temporary. In the longer term, demographic changes related to a more selective immigration (especially from lower fertility rates and longer life expectancy from skilled migrants) outweigh its benefits relative to a non-selective policy.

The rest of this article is structured as follows. The model is outlined in Section 2. The calibration method and data used are described in Section 3. Section 4 presents the simulation results of the baseline. Section 5 assesses the impact of different migration scenarios on main macroeconomic aggregates and on social protection finances. Section 6 concludes.

2. AN AGEM-OLG MODEL WITH HETEROGENEOUS AGENTS

To assess the impact of immigration on the public finances, it is necessary to accurately describe the demographic and economic environment in which migrants interact with native. For this, we develop an applied general equilibrium model with overlapping generations (AGEM-OLG) of heterogeneous agents in line with the work of Auerbach and Kotlikoff (1987). The basic structure of the model is an augmented version of that developed in Chojnicki et al. (2009) for the US.

2.1. Demographics

The demographic block provides an accurate representation of the structure of the French population by age, education level, and place of birth⁴. At each period, the population consists of eight adult cohorts ranging in age from between 15 to 24 years (denoted as cohort 0) to between 85 and 94 years (denoted as cohort 7). One period of the model is 10 years. Cohort t is composed of individuals aged 0 at period t.

There are two sources of heterogeneity within each cohort. The first one concerns educational attainment. We distinguish low-skill, medium-skill, and high-skill individuals. These skill levels are respectively denoted by the superscripts S = L, M, H. The second one refers to country of origin/birth: we distinguish natives and immigrants (first generation). In the spirit of Storesletten (2000), immigrants' children are considered as natives. These categories are respectively denoted by the subscripts X = N, M;

At time t, the population aged j (j = 0, ..., 7) of skill S (S = L, M, H), from origin X (X = N, M) is denoted by $P_{X,j,t}^S$. For the sake of simplicity, we assume that individuals give birth to their children at age 30, in the middle of their second adult period of life. Fifteen years after their birth, these children become new adults. Consequently, children born at time t (by adults of cohort t - 1) reach age 15 at time t + 2. Fertility differs across skill and origin groups. At time t, the number of children per individual in a specific skill and origin class is denoted by $n_{X,t}^S$. Young agents take decisions about their level of education. At time t, the proportions of young individuals opting for low, medium, and high education are respectively denoted by π_t^L , π_t^M and π_t^H . As explained below, π_t^M and π_t^H are endogenously determined on the basis of the expected lifetime income associated with these educational levels. A change in the skill level of immigration flows then implies a change in the education choices of natives.

At each period, new immigrants are entering the country. The variable $I_{0,t}^s$ measures the number of young immigrants entering in France at age 0 with a skill level S. At the same time, a proportion of natives and immigrants leaves the country. The variables $\xi_{N,j,t}^S$ and $\xi_{M,j,t}^S$ respectively measure net emigration rates (emigrants minus immigrants compared to the previous period population size) among natives and immigrants of skill S at age j. These rates are positive for natives and they can be positive or negative for immigrants. Finally, some individuals die at each age. Mortality rates are allowed to vary between skill groups. We denote by $\beta_{j,t}^S$ (j = 1, ..., 7) the proportion of individuals of skill S dying between age j - 1 and age j.

The dynamic of population is then determined by the set of 48 equations per period (for 8 age groups, 3 skills groups and 2 origins). The number of young natives (aged 15 to 24) of skill S, $P_{N,0,t}^S$, sums up children of natives and immigrants from generation t - 2 (weighted by the probability to belong to the skill group S). The number of young new immigrants, $P_{M,0,t}^S$, is exogenous:

^{4.} Immigrants are defined as individuals who were foreign-born and who do not have French citizenship at birth.

$$P_{N,0,t}^{S} = \pi_{t}^{S} \sum_{S'} \left[P_{N,1,t-2}^{S'} n_{N,t-2}^{S'} + P_{M,1,t-2}^{S'} n_{M,t-2}^{S'} \right]$$
$$P_{M,0,t}^{S} = I_{0,t}^{S}$$

Regarding subsequent age cohorts, we use a simple dynamic process that takes into account mortality changes, in-migration and out-migration. The sizes of cohorts aged 1 to 7 are given by (for S = L, M, H and X = N, M):

$$P_{X,j,t}^{S} = \beta_{j,t}^{S} (1 - \xi_{X,j,t}^{S}) P_{X,j-1,t-1}^{S}$$
$$j = 1, ..., 7$$

2.2. Technology

The production sector plays a crucial role as it defines how the immigrants compete with the natives in the labor market. Rather than considering the existence of multiple labor markets (for the low, medium, and high skilled, for young and old workers, etc.), we assume that workers belonging to different age, skill, and origin groups offer different combinations of schooling and experience. The interest of this approach is that the number of competing factors is independent of the number of groups considered ⁵. Formally, in each period, a representative firm uses labor in efficiency units (Q_t) and physical capital (K_t) to produce a composite good (Y_t). We consider a Cobb-Douglas production function with constant returns to scale:

$$Y_t = A_t K_t^{1-\varphi} Q_t^{\varphi} \tag{1}$$

where φ measures the share of labor income in national output and A_t denotes an exogenous process determining the total factor productivity. Arising from the mincerian literature on the determination of wages, the amount of labor in efficiency units (Q_t) explicitly aggregates attributes of native workers and immigrants. It is based on the work of Ben-Porath (1967), Card and Lemieux (2001), and Wassmer (2001a). As discussed in Chojnicki et al. (2009), the choice of this production function strongly influences the impact of immigration on the supply side. The quantity of efficiency unit of labor combines raw labor, experience, and education according to a CES nested transformation function:

$$Q_{t} = \left[L_{t}^{\rho} + \mu E_{t}^{\rho} + \Theta_{t} H_{t}^{\rho}\right]^{1/\rho}$$
(2)

^{5.} This differs from the approach of Card and Lemieux (2001), which aggregates age-specific levels of human capital in a CES function. The number of nested CES functions depends on the number of cohorts considered.

where L_t measures the physical work, E_t represents experience and H_t denotes education. The parameter ρ is the inverse of the elasticity of substitution among these attributes, and μ is a fixed parameter of preference for experience. Finally, Θ_t is an exogenous skill-biased technical progress.

The representative firm behaves competitively on the factor markets and maximizes its profit⁶:

$$PROF_{t} = Y_{t} - (r_{t} + d)K_{t} - w_{t}^{L}L_{t} - w_{t}^{H}H_{t} - w_{t}^{E}E_{t}$$
(3)

where d is the depreciation rate of physical capital; r_t is the interest rate⁷; and w_t^L , w_t^H and w_t^E are the marginal productivity associated with raw labor, education, and experience, respectively. The conditions for profit maximization are:

$$r_t = (1 - \varphi)A_t K_t^{-\varphi} Q_t^{\varphi} - d \tag{4}$$

$$w_t^L = \varphi A_t K_t^{1-\varphi} Q_t^{\varphi/\rho-1} L_t^{\rho-1}$$
(5)

$$w_t^E = \varphi A_t K_t^{1-\varphi} Q_t^{\varphi/\rho-1} \mu E_t^{\rho-1}$$
(6)

$$w_t^H = \varphi A_t K_t^{1-\varphi} Q_t^{\varphi/\rho-1} \Theta_t H_t^{\rho-1}$$
(7)

Clearly, the supply of experience and education influences the rates of return of these two factors.

2.3. Preferences

Individuals have an uncertain life expectancy resulting from the probability of dying at the end of each period of life. They maximize an expected life-cycle utility function that only depends on consumption expenditures. Based on De la Croix and Docquier (2007), we use a time-separable logarithmic utility function:

$$E(U_{X,t}^S) = \sum_{j=0}^{7} \Delta_{j,t+j} \ln(c_{X,j,t+j}^S)$$
(8)

where $c_{X,j,t+j}^S$ is the consumption of generation t at age j of a consumer of skill S and origin X. The term $\Delta_{j,t+j} = \prod_{s=1}^{j} \beta_{s,t}$ (j = 1, ..., 7) is the cumulative probability of being alive at age

^{6.} At each date, the composite good is taken as the numeraire. The spot price is thus normalized to one.

^{7.} Considering that domestic investment is financed by domestic savings, we neglect the possibility that an asynchronous aging between the major industrialized nations could affect capital flows. Thus, we retain here the assumption of a closed economy, and the interest rate adjusts to balance the national financial market.

j (evaluated relative to age 0) and such that $\Delta_{0,t+0} = 1$.

In the spirit of Arrow-Debreu, we postulate the existence of a market for each contingent consumption. That is, we assume that every individual has the opportunity to insure himself against uncertainty at the beginning of his/her life. Agents born at time t must select the optimal plan for contingent consumption that maximizes expected utility under their budget constraint and given the sequence of contingent prices⁸. The budget constraint requires equality between the expected value of expenditures and revenues. For a native, this budget constraint is written as follows:

$$\sum_{j=0}^{7} R_{j,t+j} \Delta_{j,t+j} \left[c_{N,j,t+j}^{S} (1 + \tau_{t+j}^{c}) - T_{N,j,t+j}^{S} \right]$$

$$= \left[\omega_{j,t+j}^{L} + \omega_{j,t+j}^{E} e_{N,j,t+j}^{S} + \omega_{j,t+j}^{H} h_{N,j,t+j}^{S} \right] \ell_{N,j,t+j}^{S}$$
(9)

where τ_{t+j}^c is the tax rate on consumption in period t+j, $p_{j,t+j}$ is the price of a unit of good when the individual is still alive at age j; $T_{X,j,t+j}^S$ denotes the amount of social transfers received at age j; $\ell_{X,j,t+j}^S$ measures labor supply at age j; $e_{N,j,t+j}^S$ and $h_{N,j,t+j}^S$ are education and experience stock at period t + j; $\omega_{j,t+j}^L$, $\omega_{j,t+j}^H$ et $\omega_{j,t+j}^E$ represent contingent net wages after taxes related to raw labor, education, and experience, respectively. With r_t , the interest rate between dates tand t + 1, the discount factor applied to income and expenditures is given by

$$R_{j,t+j} \equiv \prod_{s=t+1}^{t+j} (1 + r_s(1 - \tau_s^k))^{-1}$$

with the convention $R_{0,t} = 1$.

The maximization of expected utility [8] in [9] determines the law of evolution of consumer spending throughout the consumer's life:

$$c_{X,j+1,t+j+1}^{S} = \frac{(1+r_{t+1})(1+\tau_{t}^{c})}{(1+\tau_{t+1}^{c})} \quad c_{X,j,t+j}^{S} \quad \forall X; \forall S; \forall j = 0, ..., 6$$
(10)

The implicit asset holdings $a_{X,j,t+j}^S$ is given by the difference between income and the consumption of the individual:

^{8.} Mortality is the only source of uncertainty. As mortality rates vary by age and educational level, prices and wages only depend on these characteristics.

$$p_{0,t}a_{X,0,t}^{S} = \left(\omega_{0,t}^{L} + \omega_{0,t}^{E}e_{X,0,t}^{S} + \omega_{0,t}^{H}h_{X,0,t}^{S}\right)\ell_{X,0,t}^{S} - p_{0,t}\left[c_{X,0,t}^{S}(1+\tau_{t}^{c}) - T_{X,0,t}^{S}\right] R_{j,t+j}\Delta_{j,t+j}a_{j,t+j} = R_{j,t+j}\Delta_{j,t+j}a_{X,j-1,t+j-1}^{S} + \left(\omega_{j,t+j}^{L} + \omega_{j,t+j}^{E}e_{X,j,t+j}^{S} + \omega_{j,t+j}^{H}h_{X,j,t+S}^{S}\right)\ell_{X,j,t+j}^{S} - p_{j,t+j}\left[c_{X,j,t+j}^{S}(1+\tau_{t+j}^{c}) - T_{X,j,t+j}^{S}\right]$$

We assume that immigrants have the same wealth as natives of the same skill and age when they enter the country. This means that low-skilled immigrants enter the country with a low degree of wealth, while an immigrant with higher skills will bring more wealth. This methodological choice is relatively close to that of Fehr et al. (2004) but differs from Storesletten (2000), who assumed that immigrants bring no wealth. However, this choice has only a marginal role in the results, as 70% of immigrants enter France before age 35 in 2005, that is, at the beginning of the period of wealth accumulation. The age structure and education of immigrants is significantly different from that of natives, and immigration affects the capital stock per worker. Immigrants entering at age j > 0 adopt the same behavior as natives of the same cohort.

2.4. Educational decisions

Through its effect on wages, interest rates, and tax rates, immigration induces behavioral changes among natives. Our model accounts for the effect on natives' education decisions.

Natives choose their level of education or, equivalently, the duration of their studies. The exogenous variable, $0 \le \overline{u}_S \le 1$ (as $\overline{u}_L < \overline{u}_M < \overline{u}_H$), measures the proportion of time that a native with a level of education S must devote to his/her education between the ages of 15 and 24. As mentioned previously, the proportion of people terminating their studies before their baccalaureate (π_t^L) is exogenous. This assumption is based on the fact that the decision to quit school is often made at the family level. For individuals who have reached an intermediate education level, the choice of the number of years of study is performed by comparing the gains and costs of a longer education. The monetary gain is measured by expected lifetime labor income, $E(Z_t^S)$, derived from the budget constraint [9]:

$$E(Z_{t}^{S}) \equiv \sum_{j=0}^{\gamma} \left(\omega_{j,t+j}^{L} + \omega_{j,t+j}^{E} e_{X,j,t+j}^{S} + \omega_{j,t+j}^{H} h_{X,j,t+j}^{S} \right) \ell_{X,j,t+j}^{S}$$

The effort required for graduation is assumed to be proportional to the opportunity cost of education, $\lambda \omega_{0,t}^L \overline{u}_S (1 - v_t)$, where v_t denotes the rate of subsidy on the cost of education and λ is a scale variable determining the ability to educate. This ability, λ , is distributed uniformly over $[\underline{\lambda}, \overline{\lambda}]$.

The following condition defines the range of λ over which tertiary education dominates secondary education:

$$E(Z_t^H) - \lambda \omega_{0,t}^L \overline{u}_H(1 - v_t) \ge E(Z_t^M) - \lambda \omega_{0,t}^L \overline{u}_M(1 - v_t)$$

This condition can be rewritten as

$$\lambda < \lambda_t^c \equiv \frac{E(Z_t^H) - E(Z_t^M)}{\omega_{0,t}^L \left[\overline{u}_H - \overline{u}_M\right] \left[1 - v_t\right]} \tag{11}$$

where λ_t^c is the critical level of ability below which tertiary education dominates secondary education in the cohort t.

Therefore, the proportions of agents opting for primary, secondary, and tertiary education are given by

$$\begin{aligned} \pi_t^L &= \overline{\pi}_t^L \\ \pi_t^M &= (1 - \overline{\pi}_t^L) \frac{\overline{\lambda} - \lambda_t^c}{\overline{\lambda} - \underline{\lambda}} + \varepsilon_t \\ \pi_t^H &= (1 - \overline{\pi}_t^L) \frac{\lambda_t^c - \underline{\lambda}}{\overline{\lambda} - \underline{\lambda}} - \varepsilon_t \end{aligned}$$

where $\overline{\pi}_t^L$ is the exogenous share of young unskilled workers and ε_t denotes a iid. stochastic process.

2.5. Wage and unemployment

Following d'Autume and Quinet (2001), we adopt a WS-PS approach to determine the levels of real wages and equilibrium unemployment at the aggregate level. We assume that wage negotiations between firms and labor unions lead to a real wage determined by applying a mark-up. These negotiations occur independently by two unions representing the interests of unskilled workers (level of education L) and skilled workers (levels of education M and H), respectively. The union representing the interests of unskilled workers is bringing claims about the level of base wage (w_t^L) , while the union representing the skilled workers negotiates the part of the wages associated with education level $w_t^{H 9}$. Claims of employees consist in applying a mark-up on the reservation wage that grows at the same pace as productivity, A_t , to ensure the

^{9.} Therefore, the negotiations of a union, for example those representing the interests of unskilled workers, will also slightly influenced, by a second-order effect, the level of wages and unemployment of skilled workers.

existence of a structural unemployment in the long-term. In addition, this mark-up is expected to decrease with the level of the average unemployment rate in the economy, thereby resulting in an erosion of effective bargaining power of unions in case of a shortage of labor demand. Thus, we have

$$\log(w_t^L) = \frac{1}{2}\log(w_{t-1}^L) + \frac{1}{2}(a_u\bar{\Phi}_t^L + \log(A_t) + \Lambda_t^L)$$

$$\log(w_t^H) = \frac{1}{2}\log(w_{t-1}^H) + \frac{1}{2}(a_u\bar{\Phi}_t^{MH} + \log(A_t) + \Lambda_t^H)$$

where $\bar{\Phi}_t^L$ and $\bar{\Phi}_t^{MH}$ represent the average unemployment rate associated with unskilled workers and skilled workers, respectively, with

$$\bar{\Phi}_{t}^{L} = \left(aj_cho_{t}^{L} \sum_{j=0}^{4} \sum_{X=N,M} P_{X,j,t}^{L} q_{t} \Phi_{X,j,t}^{L} \right) / \left(\sum_{j=0}^{4} \sum_{X=N,M} P_{X,j,t}^{L} q_{t} \right)$$

$$\bar{\Phi}_{t}^{MH} = \left(aj_cho_{t}^{MH} \sum_{j=0}^{4} \sum_{X=N,M} P_{X,j,t}^{M} q_{t} \Phi_{X,j,t}^{M} + P_{X,j,t}^{H} q_{t} \theta_{X,j,t}^{H} \right) / \left(\sum_{j=0}^{4} \sum_{X=N,M} P_{X,j,t}^{M} q_{t} + P_{X,j,t}^{H} q_{t} \right)$$

where $\Phi_{X,j,t}^S$ denote unemployment rates by age, origin, and education level coming from employment surveys and $aj_cho_t^L$ and $aj_cho_t^{MH}$ are, respectively, uniform distributions variables to ensure that the average rate of unemployment of the unskilled workers $(\bar{\Phi}_t^L)$ and skilled workers $(\bar{\Phi}_t^{MH})$ resulting from the intersection of WS and PS curves is equal to the weighted average unemployment rate for the two workforce groups.

 Λ_t^L and Λ_t^H are adjustment variables, calibrated during the transition phase, so as to reproduce the historical rate of unemployment (also from employment surveys) and to ensure convergence in 2030 of the actual rate of unemployment to a long term unemployment rate 5.2% for unskilled workers and 3.8% for skilled workers. These figures correspond, given the population structure, to an average unemployment rate of 4.5% in 2030, compatible with the target hypothesis of the central scenario of the Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites (2010) (with a more distant time horizon). a_u is the long-term elasticity of the cost of labor to the employment rate. We use a value of -1.2, which is in line with d'Autume and Quinet (2001).

2.6. Labor supply, education, and experience

The time invested in education determines pattern of labor supply, education, and experience. The vector of raw labor supply for an agent of the generation t is written as

$$\ell_{X,t}^{S} = (q_t(1 - \overline{u}_S), q_{t+1}, q_{t+2}, q_{t+3}, q_{t+4}(1 - \alpha_{t+4}), 0, 0, 0)$$
(12)

where q_t denotes the exogenous rate of activity in t and α_{t+4} represents the time spent in retirement (exogenous) during the fifth period of life (between ages 55 and 64). The variable q_t is mainly introduced to capture the rise in women participation rate.

As in Wassmer (2001b), we assume that the experience of an individual, $e_{X,t}^S$, is an aggregate of his/her past employment experiences such that

$$e_{X,t}^{S} = (0, (1 - \overline{u}_{S})q_{t}\theta_{e}^{1}, (1 - \overline{u}_{S})q_{t}\theta_{e}^{2} + q_{t+1}\theta_{e}^{1},$$

$$(1 - \overline{u}_{S})q_{t}\theta_{e}^{3} + q_{t+1}\theta_{e}^{2} + q_{t+2}\theta_{e}^{1},$$

$$(1 - \overline{u}_{S})q_{t}\theta_{e}^{4} + q_{t+1}\theta_{e}^{3} + q_{t+2}\theta_{e}^{2} + q_{t+3}\theta_{e}^{1}, 0, 0, 0)$$

$$(13)$$

where $\theta_e^j \in (0, 1)$ represents 1 minus the depreciation rate of experience over time.

Educational human capital, $h_{X,t}^S$, transforms the investment during the first period of life in units of effective labor as a function with decreasing returns. This vector is written as

$$h_{X,t}^{S} = \left(0, \ \epsilon \overline{u}_{S}^{\psi}, \ \epsilon \overline{u}_{S}^{\psi}, \ \epsilon \overline{u}_{S}^{\psi}, \ \epsilon \overline{u}_{S}^{\psi}, \ 0, \ 0, \ 0\right)$$
(14)

where $\epsilon > 0$ and $\psi \in (0, 1)$ characterize the production function of human capital.

The aggregate quantities of raw labor (L_t) , experience (E_t) , and education (H_t) are given by

$$L_t = \sum_{j=0}^{7} \sum_{X=N,M} \sum_{S=L,M,H} P_{X,j,t}^S \ell_{X,j,t}^S$$
(15)

$$E_t = \sum_{j=0}^{\prime} \sum_{X=N,M} \sum_{S=L,M,H} P_{X,j,t}^S \ell_{X,j,t}^S e_{X,j,t}^S$$
(16)

$$H_t = \sum_{j=0}^{\prime} \sum_{X=N,M} \sum_{S=L,M,H} P_{X,j,t}^S \ell_{X,j,t}^S h_{X,j,t}^S$$
(17)

2.7. The public sector

The vector of public transfers, $\overline{T}_{X,t}^S$, consists of subsidies to education, pensions, health costs, unemployment benefits, housing costs, family allowances, and social assistance spending:

$$\overline{T}_{X,t}^{S} = \begin{pmatrix} v_{tq}t\overline{u}_{S}\omega_{0,t}^{L} + \gamma_{san,X,0}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{cho,X,0}^{S}g_{t}^{cho}\Phi_{X,0,t}^{S}a_{j}_cho_{t}^{S} + \gamma_{\log,X,0}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,0}^{S}g_{t}^{lam} + \gamma_{caf,X,0}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} \\ + \gamma_{rmi,X,0}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{san,X,1}^{S}g_{san}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{cho,X,2}^{S}g_{t}^{cho}\Phi_{X,2,t}^{S}a_{j}_cho_{t}^{S} + \gamma_{\log,X,2}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,2}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,2}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{san,X,2}^{S}g_{san}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{cho,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{cho}\Phi_{X,2,t}^{S}a_{j}_cho_{t}^{S} + \gamma_{\log,X,2}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,2}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,2}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{san,X,3}^{S}g_{san}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{cho,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{cho}\Phi_{X,3,t}^{S}a_{j}_cho_{t}^{S} + \gamma_{\log,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{san,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{cho,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{cho}\Phi_{X,3,t}^{S}a_{j}_cho_{t}^{S} + \gamma_{\log,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{san,X,4}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{cho,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{cho}\Phi_{X,3,t}^{S}a_{j}_cho_{t}^{S} + \gamma_{\log,X,4}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,4}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,3}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{caf,X,4}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{san,X,4}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{caf,X,4}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,4}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{ret,X,6,t+6}^{S} + \gamma_{san,X,5}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{\log,X,5}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,6}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,6}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{ret,X,7,t+7}^{S} + \gamma_{san,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{\log,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{ret,X,7,t+7}^{S} + \gamma_{san,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{\log,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{ret,X,7,t+7}^{S} + \gamma_{san,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{\log,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{rmi}, \\ \gamma_{ret,X,7,t+7}^{S} + \gamma_{san,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{san}\Delta_{t}^{PIB} + \gamma_{\log,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{log} + \gamma_{caf,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^{fam} + \gamma_{rmi,X,7}^{S}g_{t}^$$

where $\gamma_{risque,X,j}^{S} g_t^{risque}$ represents the total age-related transfers made by the government to agents of age j, level of education S, and origin X for retirement (*ret*), health (*san*), unemployment (*cho*), housing (*log*), family (*fam*), and social assistance (*rmi*). The variable $\gamma_{risque,X,j}^{S}$ describes the profile of social aid by age, education, and origin, and g_t^{risque} is a scale variable capturing the generosity of welfare programs.

The endogenous variable, $\gamma_{ret,X,j,t+j}^{S}$, measures pension benefits allocated to each full-time retiree from generation t in period t + j (j = 4 to 7), and α_{t+4} denotes the elderly participation rate. Following current legislation, we assume that the pension is proportional to the average wage during the last twenty years of work ¹⁰ such that

$$\gamma_{ret,X,j,t+j}^{S} = \eta_{t+4}\eta_{X}\frac{1}{3}\sum_{k=2}^{4} \left[\omega_{k,t+k}^{L} + \omega_{k,t+k}^{E}e_{X,k,t+k}^{S} + \omega_{k,t+k}^{H}h_{X,k,t+k}^{S}\right] \qquad (j = 4,...,7)$$

where η_{t+4} denotes the replacement rate capturing the generosity of the pension system and η_M is a parameter capturing the relative pension of an immigrant compared to that of a native with the same characteristics ($\eta_N = 1$). Retirement pensions are implicitly indexed to price following rencent reforms.

The evolution of health expenditures is based on the size and structure of the population (captured by the profile $\gamma_{san,X,t}^S$) and the growth rate of the GDP (Δ_t^{PIB}). According to estimates by Mahieu (2000) and Azizi and Pereira (2005), we assume a price elasticity of health expenditures equal to one. Thus, an increase of 1% of the GDP, assuming all other things being equal, implies a 1% increase in health spending. This does not mean that health expenditures are evolving at the same rate as the GDP. Other factors such as the changing age and skills structure of the French population also influence health expenditures.

^{10.} In fact, this is the average annual wage of the 25 best years of careers.

Unemployment expenditures are derived directly from the application of unemployment rates by age, skill, and origin $(\Phi_{X,j,t}^S aj_cho_t^S)$ to individual profiles of unemployment benefits $(\gamma_{cho,X,t}^S)$. All other social expenditures (housing, family, and social assistance) are modeled as a function of age, skills, and origin profiles and are adjusted uniformly to replicate the macroeconomic aggregates.

The government issues bonds and levies taxes on labor income (τ_t^w) , on consumer spending (τ_t^c) , and on capital income (τ_t^k) to finance public transfers and public consumption. Social transfers are also supported by a number of specific social security contributions, including social contributions (\cot_t) based on work income ¹¹ and General Social Contribution (csg_t) based on both wages and capital income. We consider, therefore, four major expenditure categories: education subsidies, social transfers (pensions, health, unemployment, housing, family, and welfare), non age specific general government consumption, and interest on public debt. The government budget constraint can be written as follows:

$$(\tau_t^w + \cot_t + csg_t)(w_t^L L_t + w_t^E E_t + w_t^H H_t) + \tau_t^c C_t + (\tau_t^k + csg_t)r_t K_t + D_{t+1}$$

= $\sum_j \sum_X \sum_S P_{X,j,t}^S \overline{T}_{X,j,t}^S + \vartheta_t Y_t + (1+r_t)D_t$ (19)

where D_t represents the public debt at the beginning of period t, ϑ_t is the share of government consumption (non-individualized) in GDP, and $\overline{T}_{X,j,t}^S$ is the total transfers previously defined according to age, origin, and skill level.

Several fiscal rules can be used to balance the budget constraint (adjusted by taxes, expenditures, and the public debt). We assume that the path of debt/GDP ratio is given and the apparent tax on wages (τ_t^w) adjusts to balance the budget.

Considering T_t^{risque} as the total transfers paid in period t, we can define the following for each risk considered:

$$\begin{split} T_t^{ret} &= \sum_j \sum_X \sum_S P_{X,j,t}^S \alpha_{t+j} \gamma_{ret,X,j,t+j}^S \\ T_t^{san} &= \sum_j \sum_X \sum_S P_{X,j,t}^S \gamma_{san,X,j}^S g_t^{san} \Delta_t^{PIB} \\ T_t^{cho} &= \sum_j \sum_X \sum_S P_{X,j,t}^S \gamma_{cho,X,j}^S g_t^{cho} \Phi_{X,j,t}^S aj_cho_t^S \\ T_t^{caf} &= \sum_j \sum_X \sum_S P_{X,j,t}^S (\gamma_{\log,X,j}^S g_t^{\log} + \gamma_{fam,X,j}^S g_t^{fam}) \end{split}$$

^{11.} Social contributions paid by employers are not explicitly introduced. We, therefore, assume that all social contributions are paid by employees.

$$T_t^{rmi} = \sum_j \sum_X \sum_S P_{X,j,t}^S \gamma_{rmi,X,j}^S g_t^{rmi}$$

For each risk there is a special fund that is financed autonomously. These funds include a retirement fund, a fund for health expenditures, a fund for unemployment, a fund for family benefits and housing, and a fund for social assistance expenses. The last one is directly funded from the state budget and, therefore, does not receive specific funding.

All other funds receive funding based on three sources: (i) social contributions (based on wages), (ii) earmarked taxes (mainly constituted by the *csg* and based on wages and capital income), and (iii) public contributions.

$$Solde_t^{risque} = T_t^{risque} - (\cot_t^{risque} + csg_t^{risque})(w_t^L L_t + w_t^E E_t + w_t^H H_t) - csg_t^{risque} r_t K_t - cpub_t^{risque} \cot_t^{risque}(w_t^L L_t + w_t^E E_t + w_t^H H_t)$$

where \cot_t^{risque} and csg_t^{risque} denote the rates of social contributions and taxes earmarked for each of the social risks, respectively. $cpub_t^{risque}$ represents the public contribution for each of the funds, expressed here as a proportion of social contributions. We do not impose that each social aid fund is balanced. $Solde_t^{risque}$ moves freely given the demographic and economic changes (but the public debt in the GDP is fixed; the apparent tax on wages (τ_t^w) adjusts to balance the inter-temporal budget constraints of the government).

3. BASELINE CALIBRATION

The dynamic calibration process involves collecting data for the evolution of observed exogenous variables, fixing some constant parameters and choosing paths for the unobserved exogenous variables.

3.1. Demographic data

In the baseline, the demographic block is calibrated to reproduce the available socio-demographic data. Between 1900 and 1960, we do not distinguish between immigrants and natives. Since 1970, we explicitly model the impact of immigration on the population structure by age and education. Historical data on the age distribution of population before 1970 is provided by Vallin and Meslé (2001). For the period from 1970 to 2005, the age, skill and origin structure is obtained from the population censuses of 1968, 1982, 1990, 1999 and 2005.

To calibrate fertility, mortality, and net emigration rates, we use the following method. Data from population censuses allow us to determine the proportion of people who are low-, medium-, and highly-skilled among young people (π_t^L , π_t^M and π_t^H). In the baseline, these shares are set to their observed values, and the educational endogenous process is calibrated to reproduce

their historical path. As we consider monozygotic agents, fertility rates are calibrated such that the number of young people in each period corresponds exactly to the observations. The breakdown by age, sex, and origin for 2005, the starting point of our population projections, are derived from the permanent sample census of the population. These population projections are made by taking the assumptions of the central scenario of the latest projections from INSEE and extending them to 2100 for the purposes of the model, thus fixing the rates of mortality, fertility rates, and the net immigration to their value of 2050 (see Chojnicki (2011) for more details). The data on fertility differentials by education level and origin $(n_{X,t}^S)$ are obtained from the national survey on health in 1993 (Enquête soins/santé). Death rates by age and educational level ($\beta_{j,t}^S$) are calculated on the basis of life tables by age over the period 1900 to 2005 by Vallin and Meslé (2001) and official projections of the population by Robert-Bobée (2006) from 2005 to 2050. Differences in mortality by level of education are evaluated using estimates of standardized mortality indicators (SMR) by educational level and age from Monteil and Robert-Bobée (2005).

Starting from the structure by age, educational level, and origin of the population in 1970, the demographic block is used to identify the two exogenous processes for which we have no data, i.e. the net emigration rates of natives and immigrants $(\xi_{N,j,t}^S \text{ and } \xi_{M,j,t}^S \forall j, S)$ between 1970 and 2100. The future distribution of population by skill level is based on official forecasts of the Ministère de l'Éducation Nationale (2002).

3.2. Observed exogenous processes

The elderly participation rate, α_{t+4} , is computed using data on the effective age of retirement from Blondal and Scarpetta (1997) and the COR. Overall participation rates, q_t , are based on Wassmer (2001b). With regard to public finances, three types of taxes are included in the model: taxes on labor income (τ_t^w), on capital income (τ_t^k), and on consumption (τ_t^c). These tax rates are calibrated so that the proportions of different income in the GDP correspond to the observations. We use official estimates (Insee (2009)), giving a rate of 2.9% of the GDP for the income tax, 3.4% for capital income, and 11.4% for consumption taxes in 2000. The evolution of these taxes reproduces the historical evolution of tax revenue as a percentage of the GDP. Between 1900 and 2000, the ratio of debt to the GDP is set exogenously to the observed values and the observations stem from OECD statistics.

We distinguish between two main categories of expenditures in addition to interest charges. They are public transfers related to age, $\gamma_{risque,X,j}^S$, and the public consumption expenditure (with ϑ_t being the part of these expenditures in the GDP). The historical evolution of non-age specific spending is based on OECD statistics, and the proportion is held constant for future years. With respect to age-specific transfers, we take the profiles of age, educational level, and origin of Chojnicki (2011). These profiles include health costs, unemployment, housing, family allowances, and social assistance spending. Within each age, education level, and origin, the profile is corrected by an adjustment factor, g_t^{risque} . Indeed, we assume that the profiles of

transfers are constant over time and are adjusted by changes in g_t^{risque} to reproduce the evolution of public transfers in the GDP until 2010, according to statistics from official reports on social welfare. For the following decades, the evolution of the share of pensions and health expenditure in the GDP, respectively, reproduced projections of the Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites (2010) and the projections of Raynaud and Caussat (2007). The generosity of other social transfers, captured by g_t^{risque} , is kept constant, and the evolution of the share of transfers in the GDP is calculated endogenously. Finally, the rate of subsidy on tertiary education, v_t , is estimated by De la Croix and Docquier (2007).

3.3. Parameters

The share of labor income in the GDP, φ , is fixed at 0.7. The parameter μ of the production function is a non-important scale parameter given the later choice Θ_t , it is set at 0.5. The parameter ρ is found to be of particular importance as it determines the degree of substitution between unskilled labor, education, and experience. We retain a value of 0.7, implying an elasticity of substitution of 3.33 (= $1/(1 - \rho)$). This value corresponds to the elasticity of substitution between skilled and unskilled workers from conventional production functions. The rate of depreciation of capital, d, is equal to 0.4 and implies a depreciation rate of 5%.

The depreciation rate of experience is based on median hypothesis of Wassmer (2001b) giving an annual rate independent of the age of 3%. This implies that $\theta_e^1 = 0,737, \theta_e^2 = (\theta_e^1)^2$, etc. The parameter, ψ , is the elasticity of substitution of educational capital to investment in education. It determines the concavity of the relationship between income and education level. By setting its value to 0.75, we reproduce, correctly, the income differences among low-, medium-, and highly-skilled workers. The scale parameter in the production function of human capital, ϵ , is set to 1.2 so as to give an adequate wage profile. The parameter η_M measures the retirement pension of an immigrant relative to that of a native. This ratio is calculated using data from the family budget survey of 2006 and is set to 0.75.

Finally, the lower and upper bounds of the distribution of skills in education, $\underline{\lambda}$ and $\overline{\lambda}$, are calibrated to reproduce the historical evolution of the skill structure. We estimate these parameters by a standard OLS regression.

3.4. Unobserved exogenous processes

To identify the unobserved exogenous processes, our methodology follows two steps. Starting from the baseline (matching French demographic and economic trends), we use the model to identify several unobserved processes such as the total factor productivity (A_t) , the skill-biased technical progress (Θ_t) , the scale factor of pensions benefit (η_t) , the scale factors of age-specific social transfers (g_t^{risque}) , and the scale factors of the rate of unemployment among unskilled and skilled workers $(\Lambda_t^L \text{ and } \Lambda_t^H)$. These six exogenous processes are used to reproduce six variables directly related to the following endogenous variables: the GDP growth rate, the wage gap between highly-skilled and low-skilled individuals aged 45, the share of pension expenditures in the GDP, the share of other social transfers in the GDP, and the unemployment rates for unskilled and skilled workers. The historical growth rate of the GDP stems from Maddisson (2001) and is set at 20% per decade. The wage gaps at age 45 between highly-skilled and low-skilled workers comes from the Employment Surveys from 1960 to 2007.

Basically, this methodology involves swapping six exogenous variables with six endogenous variables as a preliminary identification step. This resembles the recursive approach (backsolving) of Sims (1990) for general stochastic equilibrium models. We use a similar idea of treating exogenous processes as endogenous, not to solve the model but as a calibration mechanism in a deterministic framework. This procedure allows us to calibrate the model dynamically and is more rigorous than performing the calibration in a hypothetical steady state as is done in most AGE models, such as that of Auerbach and Kotlikoff (1987)).

4. THE BASELINE SCENARIO

4.1. The population

New demographic perspectives place France in a better position compared to its principal partners of the European Union. This particular situation is the result of two recent changes. First, the fertility rate has remained at a higher level since the beginning of 2000, and second, over the same period, net immigration has been significantly revised upwards. The central scenario projections from INSEE (Robert-Bobée (2006)) incorporate these changes by adopting a total fertility rate that remains at 1.9 children per woman rather than the 1.8 children per woman used in previous projections and an annual net immigration flow identical to that found for the years 2004 and 2005, that is, 100,000 persons per year. This is exactly twice the number used in previous projections. Another development must be reported, as it accentuates the positive development for the financing of pension. On the basis of new developments in the last 15 years, rather than the last 30, the pace of mortality decline is more moderate, which implies in 2050 a life expectancy at birth for men of 83.8 years (84.3 in previous projections) and for women 89 years (91 in previous projections).

	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
Total population	59 376	62 342	65 041	67 305	69 306	70 595	71 309	72 925	74 790
(thousands)									
Working-age population	38 478	40 531	40 674	40 354	40 026	40 352	40 918	41 726	43 043
(15-64 years, in thousands)									
Share of immigrants	7,3%	8,3%	8,7%	9,0%	9,1%	9,1%	9,0%	8,5%	8,3%
(in % of total population)									
Old age dependency ratio	25,5%	25,6%	32,4%	38,7%	44,1%	45,4%	45,1%	45,0%	44,3%
(65 years and more/15-64 years in %)									

Table 1 – Fr	ench popula	tion in the	baseline ((2000-2100)

Source: authors' calculations

The French population at the beginning of the century is marked by the following facts:

- The total population of France in 2050 should be approximately 70.6 million, an increase of over 11 million people compared to 2000 (Table 1). This increase continues in the second half of the century, but at a slower pace, with a total population reaching 74.8 million in 2100. The specter of declining population is no longer a concern if these new demographic assumptions are confirmed in the future.
- This positive outlook is reflected in the evolution of the working-age population, which experienced a sharp increase (+5.3%) over the last decade, rising to 40.5 million individuals in 2010 (2.1 million more than in 2000). It is expected to begin a slightly downward trajectory, reaching an estimated 40 million people by 2040.
- If one accepts the traditional image of the "scissors effect" (an increase in the number of elderly and a reduction of the working-age population) to characterize the demographic prospects anticipated in the early 2000s, one must note that new projections only retain increase in longevity. However, the data in Table 1 show that it is, indeed, this longer life expectancy that is the main cause of the aging population. The dependency ratio is a good indicator of this process. It should increase from 25.5% in 2000 to over 44% in 2050.
- Finally, with a positive net immigration of 100,000 people per year, the share of immigrants in the total population is expected to grow continuously over the first half of the century, from 7.3% in 2000 to 9.1% in 2050, while it is expected to decline slightly in the second half.

	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2100
High skilled (15-64 year	s)						
Natives (a)	25,2%	29,3%	32,9%	35,9%	36,8%	36,9%	36,9%
Immigrants (b)	17,6%	21,5%	25,0%	27,0%	27,9%	28,1%	28,1%
Total population (c)	24,6%	28,6%	32,1%	35,0%	35,9%	36,1%	36,1%
Medium skilled (15-64 y	vears)						
Natives (a)	16,9%	21,2%	25,6%	29,6%	32,9%	33,7%	33,7%
Immigrants (b)	10,3%	14,1%	18,2%	21,9%	25,4%	26,5%	26,5%
Total population (c)	16,3%	20,5%	24,8%	28,8%	32,1%	33,0%	33,1%
Low skilled (15-64 years	5						
Natives (a)	57,9%	49,5%	41,5%	34,5%	30,3%	29,4%	29,4%
Immigrants (b)	72,1%	64,4%	56,8%	51,1%	46,7%	45,5%	45,5%
Total population (c)	59,1%	50,9%	43,1%	36,2%	32,0%	30,9%	30,8%

Table 2 – Skill distribution of the working-age population (baseline, 2000-2100)

(a) in percentage of total natives (15-64 years)

(b) in percentage of total immigrants (15-64 years)

(c) in percentage of total population (15-64 years)

Source: authors' calculations.

These demographic changes are accompanied by a profound change in the education distribution of the working-age population (see Table 2). In the coming decades, maintenance of the education level of native youth at current levels will drive an increase in skills of active cohorts (ages 15 to 64). The group of highly skilled natives is expected to increase from 25.2% in 2000 to approximately 37% in 2050, medium-skilled natives from 16.9% to 33.7%, and low-skilled natives will systematically decrease 28.5 points (from 57.9% to 29.4% in 2100). This process of increasing educational standards, which is not unique to France, is also found in the immigrant population. The share of highly skilled immigrants is expected to increase from 17.6% in 2000 to 28.1% in 2100, and the share of low-skilled immigrants will shrink from 72.1% to 45.5% over the same period. In terms of percentage points, changes in these two populations are similar. However, the initial situation, characterized by an education distribution of immigrants far less favorable than that of natives, shows that immigration undermines the global improvement of skills of the working-age population (see Table 2).

4.2. The social protection budget

Demographic changes are marked by a growth in population throughout the century, with an average annual growth rate of 0.23%. However, growth slows after 2050 as the average annual growth rate in the second half of the century is 0.11% versus 0.35% for the first half, thus resulting in a much smaller increase in the working-age population (average annual growth rate of 0.11% over the entire period). This rate actually becomes slightly negative in 2030 and 2040. These two contrasting trends can be explained by the phenomenon of aging in France, as the dependency ratio would increase from 25.4\% in 2000 to 44.3\% in 2100, and by the important transformation of the skill distribution of the working-age population, as the number of low-skilled workers is almost halved over the century.

Thus, these changes will have effects on the economic activity and on the budget of social welfare. As shown in Table 3, the average human capital per worker increases substantially until 2050 and then stabilizes. Assuming the skill level of youth is maintained at the current levels, the baseline scenario foresees a rise in human capital in active cohorts. The growth is very strong between 2000 and 2010, which explains the significant increase of the GDP per capita over the same period (average annual growth rate of 2.7%). This then oscillates between an average annual growth rate of 0.8% (2030 to 2040) and 1.3% (2020 to 2030) under the effect of exogenous technical progress. Aging and declining unemployment rates cause a slight increase in workers' levels of experience when compared to 2000. While the experience premium remains almost stable (decreasing very slightly), the skill premium continues to grow slowly despite the increase in human capital. This is explained by the presence of the skill biased technical progress. Compared to the lack of a diploma, the baccalaureate degree generates a premium ranging from 117% to 121% between 2000 and 2040.

The effects of aging are much more apparent in regard to the social welfare finances and, more generally, to the public finances. As we have already noted, the social welfare system being based on upward distribution, the aging of the French population is resulting in a deterioration of social welfare funds (see Table 3). Social welfare expenditures will increase nearly 5.8 points

of the GDP in 2050 compared to 2000 and 2.3 points compared to 2010, from 27.1% in 2000 to 30.6% in 2010 and 32.9% in 2050. This will stabilize around the value reached in 2050 over the second half of the century. Financing needs will reach (and stabilize at) 3% of the GDP from 2050 onward, while the budget for social protection was broadly balanced in 2000. We assume that the ratio of total debt on the GDP remains fixed at its 2000 level, which is obtained by adjusting the apparent tax on wages, excluding social security contributions and csg. The latter, due to the consequent increase in social transfers, grows continuously over the entire period from 7% in 2000 to 14.7% in 2100, corresponding to a tax burden of aging valued at approximately 7.5% of the tax rate on wages.

	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
GDP per capita	1,00	1,31	1,50	1,73	1,86	2,12	2,29	2,90	3,67
$(base \ 2000 = 1)$									
Unemployment rate	11,4%	8,4%	5,1%	4,0%	3,6%	4,2%	3,7%	4,1%	4,1%
(in %)									
Unemployment rate- high + medium skilled	7,2%	5,6%	3,6%	3,0%	2,7%	3,3%	2,8%	3,2%	3,2%
(in %)									
Unemployment rate - low skilled	14,3%	11,2%	7,1%	5,7%	5,5%	6,1%	5,7%	6,0%	6,0%
(in %)									
Tax rate on wages	7,0%	8,9%	11,5%	12,9%	13,8%	13,8%	14,2%	14,4%	14,7%
(excluding social contributions and csg, in %)									
Average human capital per worker	1	1,130	1,246	1,333	1,384	1,389	1,386	1,387	1,388
(base 2000=1)									
Average experience per worker	1	1,035	1,029	1,025	1,014	1,018	1,013	1,010	1,011
(base 2000=1)									
Skill premium	116,8%	118,9%	120,2%	120,8%	120,9%	120,9%	120,9%	121,0%	121,0%
(secondary school - in %)									
Experience premium	51,1%	50,6%	50,6%	50,7%	50,9%	50,8%	50,9%	50,9%	50,9%
(20 years of experience - in %)									
Average wage for 15-65 years	1	1,116	1,276	1,510	1,675	1,928	2,060	2,615	3,251
(base 2000=1)									
Return on capital	3,82%	2,69%	3,02%	3,00%	3,37%	3,22%	3,87%	3,84%	3,89%
(annual real interest rate - in %)									

 Table 3 – Main macroeconomic aggregates (baseline, 2000-2100)

Source: authors' calculations

Table 4 describes more precisely the changes in the financing of social protection by disaggregating each of its five pillars: pensions, health care, family and housing, unemployment, and social assistance. The financing needs for the social protection described above stem from the financial situation of retirement pensions and health care. Not surprisingly, these two pillars are the most sensitive to aging populations. The other three pillars remain in balance over the period from 2000 to 2010 and then emerge with budget surpluses, which are, nevertheless, insufficient to offset the needs of the other funds' deficits.

The pension fund, thus calibrated, confirms the projections of financing needs made by the Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites (2010). Starting from a balanced position in 2000, the borrowing represents 0.5% of the GDP ten years later and 1.7% from 2030, and it then oscillates around 1.7% of the GDP from 2040 to 2100 (see Table 4). Health care fund spending, as a percentage of the GDP, increases until 2050 (from 9.4% in 2000 to 13.7%) and then stabilizes. The decrease in unemployment and the resultant increase in skill levels have positive effects at the beginning of the period on revenue of all funds that are partly financed by payroll taxes (except for expenditures of social assistance, which are directly financed from the state budget). Social contributions earn 1.5 point of the GDP during the first decade to stabilize at approximately 20% of the GDP. The General Social Contribution (*csg*) also increase by approximately 1 point

of the GDP between 2000 and 2010 to reach and remain at approximately 6.6% of the GDP. It follows that from 2020, any additional pressure on these two funds spending relative to GDP will translate into an almost equivalent increase in borrowing. In 2050, the pension expenditure increases by 1.1 point of the GDP compared with 2010, and its net borrowing increases by 1.2 point of the GDP between these two years. During the same period, the fund sees its health care spending increase by 3.2 points of the GDP and net borrowing increases by 3.2 points. Thus, in 2050, the financing needs for these two funds would amount to slightly less than 5 points of the GDP, while social welfare as a whole will have a funding requirement of 3 points. The difference is the sum of the surpluses of the other three funds: 0.7 point of the GDP for family housing, 1 point for unemployment insurance, and 0.1 point for funding expenditures of social assistance.

	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
Social protection expenditures	27,1%	30.6%	30,8%	31,8%	32,3%	32,9%	32,8%	33,0%	32,9%
(in % of GDP)	27,170	50,070	50,070	51,070	52,570	52,770	52,070	55,070	52,77
Social contributions	18,5%	20,1%	20,0%	20,0%	19,9%	19,9%	19,8%	19,9%	19,8%
(in % of GDP)	10,0 /0	20,170	20,070	20,070	1,,,,,,	1,,,,,,	19,070	1,,,,,,	17,07
General Social Contribution	5,4%	6,5%	6,6%	6,6%	6,6%	6,6%	6,7%	6,7%	6,7%
(in % of GDP)	-) .	-)	- ,	-)	-) - ·	-)	- ,	- ,	- ,
Public contributions	3,2%	3,4%	3,4%	3,4%	3,4%	3,4%	3,4%	3,4%	3,4%
(in % of GDP)									
Financing needs	0,0%	-0,5%	-0,8%	-1,7%	-2,4%	-3,0%	-3,0%	-3,0%	-3,0%
(in % of GDP)									
Retirement (in % of GDP)									
- Expenditures	11,6%	13,5%	14,1%	14,6%	14,8%	14,6%	14,5%	14,5%	14,5%
- Financing needs	0,0%	-0,5%	-1,1%	-1,7%	-1,9%	-1,7%	-1,6%	-1,6%	-1,7%
Health (in % of GDP)									
- Expenditures	9,4%	10,5%	11,5%	12,5%	13,0%	13,7%	13,6%	13,6%	13,6%
- Financing needs	0,0%	0,0%	-1,0%	-2,0%	-2,5%	-3,2%	-3,1%	-3,1%	-3,1%
Family-Housing (in % of GDP)									
- Family expenditures	2,7%	3,1%	2,8%	2,6%	2,6%	2,6%	2,7%	2,7%	2,7%
- Housing expenditures	0,9%	1,0%	0,9%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%
- Financing needs	0,0%	0,0%	0,4%	0,7%	0,7%	0,7%	0,6%	0,6%	0,6%
Unemployment (in % of GDP)									
- Expenditures	2,0%	2,0%	1,2%	0,9%	0,8%	1,0%	0,9%	1,0%	1,0%
- Financing needs	0,0%	0,0%	0,8%	1,1%	1,2%	1,0%	1,1%	1,0%	1,0%
Social Assistance (in % of GDP)									
- Expenditures	0,4%	0,5%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%
- Financing needs	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%

Table 4 – Social	protection ((baseline	, 2000-2100))

Source: authors' calculations.

5. THE IMPACT OF IMMIGRATION ON PUBLIC FINANCES

5.1. The demographic consequences of the four scenarios of the immigration policy

As stated in the introduction, we simulate four scenarios of the immigration policy. The first is built on the assumption of zero net flows after the year 2000 and for the entire length of the simulation. In other words, it describes the changing French demographics and economy without immigration. The comparison of the obtained results with those of the baseline measures the

impact of immigration as reflected in official population projections and its contribution to the evolutions of the social welfare finances. The other three scenarios are developed on the basis of an ambitious immigration policy that serves as a way to reduce the tax burden of an aging population. From a quantitative point of view, this policy seeks to regain immigration patterns similar to those observed during the second great wave of immigration from 1950 to 1960, which was approximately 0.35% of the total population. The level of flows remains the same for all three scenarios, that is, 100,000 people in 2000, approximately 200,000 thirty years later, and 228,000 at the end of the century; only the skills distribution changes. In the first variant (non-selective immigration policy), flows characteristics are identical to those of immigration policy imposes a skills distribution on immigrants identical, in each period, to those of the entire French population of the baseline scenario. The last variant (selective immigration) considers an extremely selective immigration policy where the skills distribution of incoming people is similar to the generation of the most skilled natives, the generation aged between 25 and 34, for all periods of the baseline scenario.

Table 5 identifies the main demographic implications of each of the scenarios considered. Stopping immigration, the scenario without immigration, has a major effect on the French population. The total population, compared to the baseline, is reduced by approximately 10% in 2050 and over 22% by the end of the century. The effect is more pronounced for the working-age population at -11.5% and -24%, respectively. Immigrants in the French population aged 15 and over, not surprisingly, continue to decline. They represent only 3.8% of the population in 2050 compared with 10.7% in the baseline. Furthermore, there are no more immigrants in the French economy at the end of the century. Transitory effects on the skill distribution of immigrants are unfavorable as the suppressed inflow, relative to the baseline, has a higher level of skill than immigrants already in France. Similarly, new immigrants are relatively young and the dependency ratio deteriorates significantly from 46.9% in 2050 to 46.7% in 2100 compared to 43.4% and 42.7%, respectively, in the baseline.

		2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
Population (15 years and more)	Baseline	47 959	50 775	53 360	55 725	57 397	58 188	58 838	59 954	61 494
(Thousands)	Without immig. (b)	0,0%	-0,8%	-2,5%	-4,5%	-6,8%	-9,3%	-12,0%	-17,2%	-22,1%
	Non-selective immig.(b)	0,0%	0,4%	2,6%	4,9%	7,5%	10,1%	12,4%	16,0%	19,1%
	Neutral immig. (b)	0,0%	0,4%	2,6%	4,8%	7,2%	9,8%	12,0%	15,3%	17,8%
	Selective immig. (b)	0,0%	0,4%	2,6%	4,8%	7,2%	9,6%	11,7%	14,6%	16,8%
Working-age population	Baseline	38318	40530	40466	40353	40025	40351	40919	41711	43052
(Thousands)	Without immig. (b)	0,0%	-1,0%	-3,3%	-6,0%	-9,0%	-11,5%	-14,1%	-19,5%	-24,1%
	Non-selective immig. (b)	0,0%	0,6%	3,4%	6,4%	9,6%	11,5%	12,8%	16,3%	19,0%
	Neutral immig. (b)	0,0%	0,5%	3,4%	6,3%	9,3%	11,2%	12,3%	15,2%	17,3%
	Selective immig. (b)	0,0%	0,5%	3,4%	6,2%	9,2%	10,9%	11,9%	14,3%	16,1%
Annual net migration flows	Baseline	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
(Thousands)	Without immig.	100	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Non-selective immig.	100	184	193	201	208	214	219	228	236
	Neutral immig.	100	184	193	201	208	214	219	228	236
	Selective immig.	100	184	193	201	208	214	219	228	236
Share of immigrants	Baseline	8,6%	9,7%	10,2%	10,5%	10,7%	10,7%	10,5%	10,0%	9,8%
(in % of population aged 15 years and more)	Without immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,7%	-2,3%	-3,9%	-5,4%	-6,9%	-7,9%	-9,1%	-9,8%
	Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,4%	2,3%	4,0%	5,5%	6,9%	7,9%	8,5%	8,2%
	Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,4%	2,3%	4,0%	5,6%	7,0%	8,0%	8,7%	8,5%
	Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,4%	2,3%	4,1%	5,6%	7,1%	8,1%	8,8%	8,7%
Share of high skilled immigrants	Baseline	17,6%	21,5%	25,0%	27,0%	27,9%	28,1%	28,1%	28,1%	28,1%
(in % of immigrants aged 15-64 years)	Without immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,4%	-0,8%	-0,7%	-0,2%	-0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	-
	Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,2%	0,4%	0,2%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
	Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	2,2%	4,3%	5,5%	6,1%	6,3%	6,3%	6,4%	6,4%
	Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	4,2%	7,2%	8,2%	8,6%	8,9%	8,9%	8,9%	8,9%
Share of low skilled immigrants	Baseline	72,1%	64,4%	56,8%	51,1%	46,7%	45,5%	45,5%	45,5%	45,5%
(in % of immigrants aged 15-64 years)	Without immig. (a)	0,0%	1,0%	2,8%	3,4%	1,3%	0,1%	-0,2%	0,5%	-
	Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,4%	-1,2%	-0,8%	-0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
	Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-3,8%	-7,8%	-10,1%	-10,9%	-11,3%	-11,4%	-11,5%	-11,6%
	Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-8,5%	-15,1%	-16,8%	-16,1%	-16,2%	-16,2%	-16,2%	-16,2%
Old age dependency ratio	Baseline	25,2%	25,3%	31,9%	38,1%	43,4%	44,2%	43,8%	43,7%	42,8%
(Pop 65+ / Pop 15-64 in %)	Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,3%	1,1%	2,3%	3,5%	3,6%	3,6%	4,2%	3,9%
	Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,9%	-1,9%	-2,8%	-1,9%	-0,6%	-0,3%	-0,2%
	Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,9%	-1,9%	-2,7%	-1,7%	-0,4%	0,1%	0,6%
	Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,9%	-1,8%	-2,6%	-1,6%	-0,2%	0,5%	0,9%

Table 5 – French population structure under alternative scenarios (2000-2100)

(a) Percentage points of change compared to the baseline

(b) Change in percent of the baseline

Source: Authors' calculations.

Regarding ambitious immigration policies, the significant increase in immigrant flow leads to a continuous increase in the proportion of immigrants in the population 15 years of age and older. This amounts to 12.5% in 2020 (for all three variants) compared to 10.2% in the baseline and reaches a maximum (selective immigration) of 18.8% in 2080 versus 10% in the reference scenario. From 2040, the increase is even more important with a selective policy. This result is due to differential effects on the denominator, namely, the total population (15 years age and older), resulting from differences in fertility rates by skill level. This rate decreases with skill level. Thus, for an identical net flow of immigrants for the three variants, the population over 15 years of age increases by 10.1% in 2050 compared to the baseline for a non-selective policy and more than 19% at the end of the century versus 9.6% and 16.8%, respectively, for the most selective policy. Given the age structure of new immigrants between 25 and 64, the increase was even more pronounced for the working-age population, that is, between 10.9% and 11.5% in 2050 depending upon the policy's degree of selectivity. Consequently, these inflows allow a substantial alteration of the skill distribution of immigrants in the country. If the non-selective immigration variant leaves, by construction, the immigrants' skills virtually unchanged, both selective policies improve the skill distribution of immigrants. The variant selective immigration leads to a share of highly-skilled immigrants almost identical to those of natives in 2040. With the neutral immigration policy, the difference is relatively low between the two populations and stabilizes at 3% for the highly-skilled beginning in 2040.

What are the effects of the immigration policies on the dependency ratio? Table 5 indicates that these important changes in the composition of the French population will eventually result in a relatively moderate improvement in the dependency ratio; however, the reduction is temporary. It reaches its maximum improvement level in 2040, with a drop of approximately 2.7 percentage points. Note that the gain is greater with a non-selective policy. Neutral immigration variants and selective immigration actually lead to a deterioration in this ratio from 2080, while the non-selective variant still has a positive but limited (-0.2 percentage points) effect at the end of the century. These opposite effects, depending upon the level of selectivity of the policy, are again explained by the differentiation of the demographic parameters of each skill category. Part of the explanation lies in the fertility rate. The growth of the labor force over the length of the simulation is more important with a non-selective policy. Another part of the explanation lies in the fact that skilled individuals have a higher life expectancy than non-skilled individuals. This explains why the effects are similar at the beginning of the simulation but differ when additional immigrants age.

5.2. A France without immigration: impact on public finances

If immigration is stopped after 2000, the first effect is the decline in the GDP per capita relative to the baseline. As we saw in the previous section, a negative demographic shock affects the working population more than the population as a whole. Inflows consist of a systematically younger population than the entire French population. Their removal affects more people of working age and, thus, the numerator in the ratio that determines the per capita GDP. Secondly, these inflows are consistently less skilled than the population already present in the country. Stopping immigration then also has the effect of increasing the skilled labor force and, thus, the average human capital per worker (see Table 6). The immediate effect on the labor market is that skilled labor is more abundant, and its relative wage decreases. Similarly, the skill premium also decreases slightly. However, the more important consequences are at the funding level for social welfare. The reduction in the GDP and the increasing dependency ratio both cause increased expenditures in social welfare as a percentage of the GDP. Compared to the baseline, the variant without immigration leads to increased spending by 1.3 point of the GDP in 2050, reaching 34.2%, and almost 2 points, that is, 34.8%, of the GDP by the end of the century. These increases result in an increased financing needs that are practically equal. This amounts to 4.3% in 2050 and 4.9% in 2100 versus 3% for both periods in the baseline.

In terms of tax rate on wages (recall that this payroll tax is adjusted to maintain a constant ratio of public debt), the suppression of immigration flows and, therefore, ultimately of immigrants in the French population increases the tax burden of an aging population. It increases more than 2 tax points in 2050 and 3 tax points at the end of the century. Immigration contributes to reducing the tax burden of aging, and the overall impact is, therefore, unequivocally positive on the social protection finances.

				0				-	
<u> </u>	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
GDP per capita (bas									.
Baseline	1,00	1,31	1,50	1,73	1,86	2,12	2,29	2,90	3,67
Without immig. (b)	0,0%	-0,3%	-0,8%	-1,0%	-1,4%	-1,4%	-1,6%	-2,5%	-2,6%
Social protection ex	•		,						
Baseline	27,1%	30,6%	30,8%	31,8%	32,3%	32,9%	32,8%	33,0%	32,9%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,2%	0,6%	0,9%	0,8%	1,3%	1,1%	2,2%	1,9%
Financing needs of s	social prot	ection (in %	of GDP)						
Baseline	0,0%	-0,5%	-0,8%	-1,7%	-2,4%	-3,0%	-3,0%	-3,0%	-3,0%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,2%	-0,6%	-1,0%	-0,9%	-1,3%	-1,1%	-2,3%	-1,9%
Unemployment rate	e (in %)								
Baseline	11,4%	8,4%	5,1%	4,0%	3,6%	4,2%	3,7%	4,1%	4,1%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,4%	1,2%	-0,9%	1,2%	-1,1%	0,7%	-1,3%
Tax rate on wages (excluding s	social contr	ibutions ar	ıd csg, in %	<i>(</i>)				
Baseline	7,0%	8,9%	11,5%	12,9%	13,8%	13,8%	14,2%	14,4%	14,7%
Without immig (a)	0,0%	0,4%	1,0%	1,6%	1,4%	2,1%	1,9%	3,5%	3,1%
Average human cap	ital per wo	orker (base	2000 = 1)						
Baseline	1	1,130	1,246	1,333	1,384	1,389	1,386	1,387	1,388
Without immig. (b)	0,0%	0,1%	0,5%	0,9%	2,0%	1,6%	2,3%	1,7%	2,1%
Average experience	per worke	r (base 200	0 = 1)						
Baseline	1	1,035	1,029	1,025	1,014	1,018	1,013	1,010	1,011
Without immig. (b)	0,0%	0,3%	0,6%	0,6%	0,0%	0,8%	0,5%	0,7%	0,1%
Skill premium (seco	ndary sch	ool - in %)			,		,		
Baseline	116,8%	118,9%	120,2%	120,8%	120,9%	120,9%	120,9%	121,0%	121,0%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	-0,2%	-0,3%	-0,7%	-0,6%	-0,8%	-0,6%	-0,7%
Experience premiur	n (20 years	s of experie	nce - in %)	,	,	,		
Baseline	51,1%	50,6%	50,6%	50,7%	50,9%	50,8%	50,9%	50,9%	50,9%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	0,0%
Average wage for 15	5-65 years	(base 2000 -	= 1)	,	,	,			
Baseline	1	1,116	1,276	1,510	1,675	1,928	2,060	2,615	3,251
Without immig. (b)	0,0%	-0,7%	-1,9%	-3,0%	-2,4%	-3,3%	-3,9%	-7,3%	-7,7%
Return on capital (a	nnual real	interest ra	te, %)	,		,	,		
Baseline	3,82%	2,69%	3,02%	3,00%	3,37%	3,22%	3,87%	3,84%	3,89%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	0,0%	-0,1%	0,0%	-0,1%	0,1%

Table 6 – Main macroeconomic aggregates	- scenario without immig. (2000-2100)
Tuble o Multi muci deconomite uggi egutes	Sechario without mining. (2000-2100)

(a) Percentage points of change compared to the baseline

(b) Change in percent of the baseline

Source: Authors' calculations

If we examine more closely the various pillars of social welfare, Table 7 suggests that funds that are affected by the immigration policies are those that are most sensitive to the age distribution of the population: pensions and health care expenditures. The breakdown of the increased financing needs of social protection in 2050 is as follows: pensions -1.1%, health care 0.2%, family housing 0.2%, unemployment -0.3%, and social assistance 0.1%. This results in a much higher total financing requirement of 1.3 point of the GDP. The degradation of the financing of retirement is the main source of the overall effect.

The structure of taxation and social security contributions is not changed in the variant. Moreover, the distribution of value added between labor and capital is not affected by the demographic shock. It follows that social contributions and the amount of *csg* perceived as a percentage of the GDP are broadly similar in the variant and the baseline. All effects, thus, pass on the expenditure side. The evolution of the financing needs simply reflects that of expenditures (see Table 7).

	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
Retirement (in % of	f GDP)								
- Expenditures									
Baseline	11,6%	13,5%	14,1%	14,6%	14,8%	14,6%	14,5%	14,5%	14,5%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,5%	0,7%	1,0%	1,1%	1,3%	1,8%	1,8%
- Financing needs									
Baseline	0,0%	-0,5%	-1,1%	-1,7%	-1,9%	-1,7%	-1,6%	-1,6%	-1,7%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,2%	-0,5%	-0,7%	-1,0%	-1,1%	-1,3%	-1,8%	-1,8%
Health (in % of GD	P)								
- Expenditures									
Baseline	9,4%	10,5%	11,5%	12,5%	13,0%	13,7%	13,6%	13,6%	13,6%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,2%	0,1%	0,3%	0,2%	0,3%	0,5%	0,7%
- Financing needs									
Baseline	0,0%	0,0%	-1,0%	-2,0%	-2,5%	-3,2%	-3,1%	-3,1%	-3,1%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,2%	-0,1%	-0,3%	-0,2%	-0,3%	-0,6%	-0,7%
Family-Housing (in	% of GE	PP)							
- Family expenditure	es								
Baseline	2,7%	3,1%	2,8%	2,6%	2,6%	2,6%	2,7%	2,7%	2,7%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,2%	-0,1%	-0,1%
- Housing expenditu	res								
Baseline	0,9%	1,0%	0,9%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%	0,8%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%
- Financing needs									
Baseline	0,0%	0,0%	0,4%	0,7%	0,7%	0,7%	0,6%	0,6%	0,6%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,2%	0,2%	0,2%	0,2%	0,2%
Unemployment (in	% of GD	P)							
- Expenditures									
Baseline	2,0%	2,0%	1,2%	0,9%	0,8%	1,0%	0,9%	1,0%	1,0%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,3%	-0,2%	0,3%	-0,3%	0,2%	-0,3%
- Financing needs									
Baseline	0,0%	0,0%	0,8%	1,1%	1,2%	1,0%	1,1%	1,0%	1,0%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,3%	0,2%	-0,3%	0,3%	-0,2%	0,3%
Social Assistance (i	n % of G	DP)							
- Expenditures									
Baseline	0,4%	0,5%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%	0,4%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%
- Financing needs									
Baseline	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%
Without immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%

Table 7 – Social protection -	Scenario Without immig.	(2000-2100)
-------------------------------	-------------------------	-------------

(a) Percentage points of change compared to the baseline(b) Change in percent of the baseline

Source: Authors' calculations

5.3. The contribution of a selective immigration policy to finance social protection

The macroeconomic consequences of a more ambitious immigration policy are described in Table 8. The demographic shock is symmetric to that specified in the variant without immigration. However, the effects differ somewhat due to the predominantly transitory positive impact on the dependency ratio, which is very sensitive to the skills distribution of new immigrants.

The selective policies translate systematically to an increase (compared to the baseline scenario) of the average human capital per worker over the period, while the non-selective policy, from 2030, leads to a moderate reduction in this variable. These developments with respect to skill level explain, systematically, the reduction of the skill premium in the case of selective policies as well as the minimal improvement with a non-selective policy. Note also that with the latter result, consistent flows of unskilled immigrants do not imply significant worsening of income inequality. This improvement of human capital, in the case of selective policies, accompanied by an increase of experience explains the moderate increase in the GDP per capita throughout the period. All of these developments are characterized by a transitory effect, positive or negative depending upon the variable of interest, that peaks around 2050 and then gradually diminishes (or even reverses in some cases).

Whatever the degree of selectivity, the immigration policy improves public finances. The reduction of social transfers is more pronounced in the middle of the century, with a decrease of 1.2 and 1.1 point of the GDP for selective policies and 0.8 point for a non-selective policy. The aging of additional incoming immigrants eventually limits the benefits and inverts the hierarchy of the different policies. That is, a non-selective immigration policy reduced the social transfers by 0.5 point of the GDP at the end of the century. A neutral immigration policy causes a decrease of more than 0.2 point, while the most selective policy has virtually no effect, with a reduction of 0.1 point of the GDP. This reduction in public transfers, combined with favorable wage developments (substantial increase in the average wage), leads to a lower tax rate on wages of between 1.5 (non-selective immigration) and 2 (neutral immigration and selective immigration) tax points in 2050. For the reasons stated above, the reduction is lower at the end of the century and the largest gain requires the non-selection of immigrants.

We can, therefore, say that these more ambitious immigration policies would reduce the tax burden of aging in 2050 to just over 20% without selection criteria and to approximately 30% with a highly selective policy. While this, admittedly, is not negligible, it is relatively small when we compare these results with demographic changes implied by these flows. If we focus more specifically on the finances of different pillars of social protection (Table 9), we find the following trends.

Table 8 - Main macroeconomic aggregates - scenarios ambitious immigration policies (2000-2100)

	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
GDP per capita (base 200	0 = 1)								
Baseline	1,00	1,31	1,50	1,73	1,86	2,12	2,29	2,90	3,67
Non-selective immig. (b)	0,0%	0,2%	0,9%	1,7%	2,2%	1,4%	1,0%	0,7%	0,8%
Neutral immig. (b)	0,0%	0,4%	1,5%	2,4%	3,1%	2,7%	1,9%	2,0%	1,6%
Selective immig. (b)	0,0%	0,5%	1,9%	2,8%	3,5%	3,1%	2,3%	2,2%	1,7%
Social protection expendi		of GDP)							
Baseline	27,1%	30,6%	30,8%	31,8%	32,3%	32,9%	32,8%	33,0%	32,9%
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,6%	-0,6%	-0,9%	-0,8%	0,1%	-0,7%	-0,5%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,2%	-0,7%	-1,2%	-0,8%	-1,2%	-0,3%	-1,0%	-0,2%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,3%	-0,8%	-1,2%	-0,9%	-1,1%	-0,4%	-0,8%	-0,1%
Financing needs of social	protection	(in % of G	DP)						
Baseline	0,0%	-0,5%	-0,8%	-1,7%	-2,4%	-3,0%	-3,0%	-3,0%	-3,0%
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,6%	0,6%	0,9%	0,8%	-0,2%	0,6%	0,5%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,2%	0,7%	1,1%	0,8%	1,1%	0,2%	0,9%	0,1%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,3%	0,8%	1,2%	0,8%	1,1%	0,3%	0,7%	0,0%
Unemployment rate (in %)								
Baseline	11,4%	8,4%	5,1%	4,0%	3,6%	4,2%	3,7%	4,1%	4,1%
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,1%	-0,3%	-1,6%	0,5%	0,7%	-1,2%	3,4%	-0,3%	0,6%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,1%	-0,7%	-0,8%	-1,6%	1,9%	-0,8%	1,2%	-0,4%	1,9%
Selective immig. (a)	0,1%	-0,9%	-1,0%	-1,7%	1,7%	-0,3%	0,9%	0,0%	1,6%
Tax rate on wages (exclud	ing social o	contribution	is and csq , i	in %)					
Baseline	7,0%	8,9%	11,5%	12,9%	13,8%	13,8%	14,2%	14,4%	14,7%
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,2%	-1,2%	-1,3%	-1,7%	-1,5%	-0,2%	-1,2%	-1,0%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,4%	-1,4%	-2,1%	-1,6%	-2,0%	-0,8%	-1,6%	-0,5%
Selective immig. (a)	0,1%	-0,5%	-1,5%	-2,2%	-1,6%	-2,0%	-1,0%	-1,4%	-0,4%
Average human capital p	,			,	,	,	,	,	,
Baseline	1	1,130	1,246	1,333	1,384	1,389	1,386	1,387	1,388
Non-selective immig. (b)	0,0%	0,0%	0,3%	-0,2%	-0,7%	0,0%	-1,3%	-0,2%	-0,4%
Neutral immig. (b)	0,0%	0,7%	1,8%	2,7%	1,5%	2,5%	1,9%	2,4%	1,6%
Selective immig. (b)	-0,1%	1,5%	3,1%	3,9%	2,7%	3,4%	3,1%	3,2%	2,6%
Average experience per w		-	-	,	,	,	,	,	,
Baseline	1	1,035	1,029	1,025	1,014	1,018	1,013	1,010	1,011
Non-selective immig. (b)	0,1%	-0,2%	-0,4%	1,6%	2,3%	1,8%	3,1%	2,1%	2,3%
Neutral immig. (b)	0,1%	-0,5%	-0,2%	0,6%	2,5%	1,8%	2,3%	2,0%	2,6%
Selective immig. (b)	0,1%	-0,5%	-0,3%	0,6%	2,5%	2,0%	2,3%	2,2%	2,6%
Skill premium (secondary			0,0 /0	0,070	-,0 /0	-,	-,0 /0	_,_ /0	2,070
Baseline	116,8%	118,9%	120,2%	120,8%	120,9%	120,9%	120,9%	121,0%	121,0%
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	0,1%	0,3%	0,0%	0,5%	0,1%	0,2%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,3%	-0,7%	-0,9%	-0,5%	-0,9%	-0,7%	-0,8%	-0,6%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,5%	-1,1%	-1,4%	-0,9%	-1,2%	-1,1%	-1,1%	-0,9%
Experience premium (20	,			-,,.,	0,5 / 0		-,- //		0,5 /0
Baseline (20)	51,1%	50,6%	50,6%	50,7%	50,9%	50,8%	50,9%	50,9%	50,9%
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	-0,2%	-0,3%	-0,3%	-0,5%	-0,3%	-0,4%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,4%	-0,3%	-0,3%	-0,3%	-0,4%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,4%	-0,3%	-0,3%	-0,3%	-0,4%
Average wage for 15-65 y	· ·		0,0 /0	-0,1 /0	-0,470	-0,5 /0	-0,5 /0	-0,5 /0	-0,470
Baseline	1	1,116	1,276	1,510	1,675	1,928	2,060	2,615	3,251
Non-selective immig. (b)	0,0%	0,8%	1,270 1,9%	2,8%	<i>3,2%</i>	2,5%	2,000 1,9%	2,015	2,9%
Neutral immig. (b)	0,0%	0,3 % 0,9%	2,7%	2,8 % 3,7%	3,2 % 3,4%	2,3 % 4,3%	2,5%	2,3 % 4,0%	2,970
Selective immig. (b)	0,0% 0,0%	0,9% 1,1%	2,7% 3,0%	3,7% 3,9%	3,4% 3,6%	4,5% 4,5%	2,3% 2,8%	4,0% 3,9%	2,4%
Return on capital (annual			3,0%	5,9%	5,0%	4 ,3%	2,070	3,9%	2,0%
Baseline	3,82%	2,69%	3,02%	3,00%	3,37%	3,22%	3,87%	3,84%	3,89%
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	-0,2%	0,0%	-0,1%
Non-selective tinnig. (a) Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0 <i>%</i>	0,1%	0,0 % 0,1%	-0,1%	0,1 % 0,0%	-0,2 % -0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%
									-1/.1 /0

(a) Percentage points of change compared to the baseline
(b) Change in percent of the baseline
Source: Authors' calculations

1	2000	2010	2020	2030	2040	2050	2060	2080	2100
Retirement (in % of GDF									
- Expenditures)								
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,4%	-0,8%	-0,9%	-0,8%	-0,6%	-0,6%	-0,5%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,5%	-0,9%	-1,0%	-0,8%	-0,6%	-0,5%	-0,4%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,5%	-0,9%	-1,0%	-0,8%	-0,5%	-0,4%	-0,3%
- Financing needs	0,070	0,1 /0	0,0 /0	0,5 /0	1,0 /0	0,070	0,0 /0	0,170	0,0 /0
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,4%	0.8%	0,9%	0,7%	0,6%	0,6%	0,5%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,5%	0,8%	1,0%	0,8%	0,6%	0,5%	0,3%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,5%	0,8%	0,9%	0,7%	0,5%	0,4%	0,2%
Health (in % of GDP)	.,	•,		.,	-,	-,	.,	.,	- ,
- Expenditures									
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	-0,2%	-0,4%	0,0%	-0,3%	-0,2%	-0,3%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	-0,4%	-0,3%	-0,2%	-0,4%	-0,4%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	-0,4%	-0,3%	-0,2%	-0,4%	-0,3%
- Financing needs	.,	•,	.,	.,	•,•••	.,	-,	.,	- ,
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	0,2%	0,4%	0.0%	0,3%	0,2%	0,3%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	0,4%	0,2%	0,1%	0,4%	0,4%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	0,4%	0,3%	0,2%	0,4%	0,3%
Family-Housing (in % of	,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	- ,
- Family expenditures	021)								
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
- Housing expenditures	0,070	0,070	0,070	0,070	0,070	0,0 /0	0,070	0,0 /0	0,070
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
- Financing needs	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,2%	-0,2%	-0,2%	-0,1%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0.0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0.0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	0,0%	-0,1%	0,0%	-0,1%
Unemployment (in % of		.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,
- Expenditures	,								
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,4%	0,1%	0,2%	-0,3%	0,9%	-0,1%	0,1%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,2%	-0,2%	-0,4%	0,5%	-0,2%	0,3%	-0,1%	0,5%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	-0,3%	-0,3%	-0,4%	0,4%	-0,1%	0,2%	0,0%	0,4%
- Financing needs	.,	.,	.,	•,•••	.,		•,	.,	.,
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,1%	0,4%	-0,1%	-0,2%	0,3%	-0,9%	0,1%	-0,2%
neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,2%	0,2%	0,4%	-0,5%	0,2%	-0,3%	0,1%	-0,5%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,3%	0,3%	0,4%	-0,4%	0,1%	-0,2%	0,0%	-0,4%
Social assistance (in % of		.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,	.,
- Expenditures									
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0.0%	0,0%	0,1%	0,1%	0,1%	0,0%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
- Financing needs									
Non-selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	-0,1%	-0,1%	-0,1%	0.0%
Neutral immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
Selective immig. (a)	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%	0,0%
Serective manug. (u)	0,070	0,0 /0	0,070	0,0 /0	0,0 /0	0,0 /0	0,070	0,0 /0	0,0 /0

 Table 9 – Social protection - scenarios ambitious immigration policies (2000-2100)

(a) Percentage points of change compared to the baseline
(b) Change in percent of the baseline
Source: Authors' calculations

Regarding the pensions, the additional flows of immigrants, regardless of the distribution of skills, increase, in the short term, the number of contributors and change very little the number and distribution of inactive workers and the total amount of pensions. In the longer term, additional flows of older immigrants result in an increase in pensions, which is especially important as these new retirees are skilled. With selective policies, the revenues of contributors improve slightly, while in the medium term, the combination of a lower birth rate and a higher life expectancy outweighs the financial gains allowed by a non-selective policy. Thus, the financing needs of the pension system at the end of the century are reduced by almost 0.5 point of the GDP (approximately a 30% decrease in financing needs from the baseline) in the absence of selective immigration variant. In the short- to medium-term, selection on the basis of skills provides a reduction in the financing needs equivalent to the policy based on the no selective policy.

For health expenditures, we must wait until 2040 for the beneficial effects to be actualized, although they remain moderate until the end of the century. Only the family-housing fund saw its financial situation deteriorate slightly as a result of increased inflows regardless of the skill system in place.

6. CONCLUSION

Immigration has many effects, most of which are generally positive, on the social welfare finances in France. We have shown that immigration, as projected in official forecasts, reduces the tax burden of an aging population. In the absence of immigration, the financing needs of social welfare increased by 2 GDP points from 3% to approximately 5%. These benefits are mainly the result of the age distribution of net flows, younger than French population as a whole, and principally affect, not surprisingly, the two pillars of social protection most sensitive to demographic changes: pensions and health care.

For similar reasons, a more ambitious immigration policy would contribute to reducing the tax burden of an aging population. However, the financial gains are relatively moderate in comparison to the demographic changes it implies. These changes include a reduction of this burden of between 20% and 30%, depending on its degree of selectivity, for a growing workforce of between 16% and 20%, while the proportion of immigrants in this population would double by the end of the century.

A more selective policy in favor of skilled workers can amplify these gains in the short to medium term while reducing demographic changes but in proportions that remain relatively low. Most importantly, and contrary to popular belief in the social debate, this improvement is temporary. In the longer term, demographic changes of a more selective immigration policy outweigh its positive effects when compared to a non-selective policy.

REFERENCES

Auerbach A., Kotlikoff L., 1987. Dynamic Fiscal Policy. Cambridge University Press.

- Auerbach A., Oreopoulos P., 2000. The Fiscal Effects of U.S. Immigration: A Generational-Accounting Perspective. In: Poterba J., (Ed), Tax Policy and the Economy, 14.
- Azizi K., Pereira C., 2005. Comparaison internationale des dépenses de santé: une analyse des évolutions dans sept pays (1970- 2002). Dossiers solidarité et santé 1.
- Ben-Porath Y., 1967. The production of human capital and the life cycle of earnings. Journal of Political Economy 75(4).
- Blondal S., Scarpetta S., 1997. Early Retirement in OECD Countries : the Role of Social Security System. OECD-Economic Studies 29.
- Boeri T., Brucker H., 2005. Why are Europeans so tough on migrants?. Economic Policy 20-44, 629–703.
- Bonin H., Raffelhüschen B., Walliser J., 2000. Can Immigration Alleviate the Demographic Burden. FinanzArchiv 57.
- Borjas G. J., 1999. Heaven's Door : Immigration Policy and the American Economy. Princeton University Press.
- Brücker H., Epstein G., Mc Cormick B., Saint-Paul G., Venturini A., Zimmerman K., 2002. Managing Migration in the European Welfare State - A Report to the Fondazione Rodolfo Debenedetti. Oxford University Press.
- Card D., Lemieux T., 2001. Can falling supply explain the rising return to college for younger men? A cohort-based analysis. Quarterly Journal of Economics 116(2).
- Chojnicki X., 2004. The Economic Impact of Immigration for the Host Countries. Brussels Economic Review 47(1).
- Chojnicki X., 2006. Vieillissement démographique et immigration internationale : un modèle de comptabilité générationnelle appliqué à la France. Economie et Prévision 174.
- Chojnicki X., 2011. Impact budgétaire de l'immigration en France. Revue Economique, forthcoming.
- Chojnicki X., Docquier F., Ragot L., 2009. Should the US have locked the heaven's door? Reassessing the benefits of the postwar immigration. Journal of Population Economics 24(1).
- Collado D., Iturbe-Ormaetxe I., Valera G., 2003. Quantifying the Impact of Immigration in the Spanish Welfare State. International Tax and Public Finance 11(3), 335-353.
- Conseil d'Orientation des Retraites, 2010. Retraites : Perspectives actualisées à moyen et long terme en vue du rendez-vous de 2010. Huitième rapport au Premier Ministre, COR.
- d'Autume A., Quinet A., 2001. Une maquette de moyen terme de l'économie française. Economie et Prévision 148.
- De la Croix D., Docquier F., 2007. School attendance and skill premiums in France and the US: a general equilibrium approach. Fiscal Studies 28(4), 383-416.

- Fehr H., Jokisch S., Kotlikoff L. J., 2004. The role of immigration in dealing with the developed world's demographic transition. NBER Working Paper 10512.
- Insee, 2009. L'économie française Comptes et dossiers Edition 2009. Insee référence.
- Maddisson A., 2001. The world economy : a millennial perspective. Development Center Studies 1(6), OECD.
- Mahieu R., 2000. Les déterminants des dépenses de santé : une approche macroéconomique. Série des documents de travail de la Direction des études et synthèses économiques G2000/01.
- Ministère de l'Éducation Nationale, 2002. Projection du système éducatif à dix ans. Direction de l'Évaluation et de la Prospective.
- Monso O., 2008. L'immigration : quels effets sur les finances publiques. Revue Française d'Economie 23(2).
- Monteil C., Robert-Bobée I., 2005. Quelles évolutions des différentiels sociaux de mortalité pour les femmes et les hommes ? : tables de mortalité par catégorie sociale en 1975, 1982 et 1990 et indicateurs standardisés de mortalité en 1975, 1982, 1990 et 1999. Document de travail de l'Insee F0506.
- Raynaud D., Caussat L. 2007. Perspectives à long terme des dépenses de santé en France. In: Aghion P., Cette G., Cohen E., Pisani-Ferry J., (Eds), Les leviers de la croissance française. Conseil d'Analyse Economique 72.
- Robert-Bobée I., 2006. Projections de population 2005-2050 pour la France métropolitaine : méthode et résultats. Document de travail de l'Insee F0603.
- Sims C., 1990. Solving the Stochastic Growth Model by Backsolving with a particular Non Linear Form of the Decision Rule. Journal of Business and Economic Statistics 8(1), 45-47.
- Storesletten K., 2000. Sustaining Fiscal Policy through Immigration. Journal of Political Economy 108(2), 300-323.
- Vallin J., Meslé F., 2001. Tables de mortalité françaises pour les XIXe et XXe siècles et projections pour le XXe siècle. Collection INED.
- Wassmer E., 2001a. Between-Group Competition on the Labour Market and the Risisng Return to Skill : US and France 1964-2000. CEPR Working paper 278.
- Wassmer E., 2001b. Measuring Human Capital in the Labour Market: the Supply of Experience in 8 OECD countries. European Economic Review 45, 861-874.

LIST OF WORKING PAPERS RELEASED BY CEPII

An Exhaustive list is available on the website: \\www.cepii.fr.

No	Tittle	Authors
2011-12	The Performance of Socially Responsible Funds: Does the Screening Process Matter?	G. Capelle-Blancard & S. Monjon
2011-11	Market Size, Competition, and the Product Mix of Exporters	T. Mayer, M. Melitz & G. Ottaviano
2011-10	The Trade Unit Values Database	A. Berthou & C. Emlinger
2011-09	Carbon Price Drivers: Phase I versus Phase II Equilibrium	A. Creti, PA. Jouvet & V. Mignon
2011-08	Rebalancing Growth in China: An International Perspective	A. Bénassy-Quéré, B. Carton & L. Gauvin
2011-07	Economic Integration in the EuroMed: Current Status and Review of Studies	J. Jarreau
2011-06	The Decision to Import Capital Goods in India: Firms' Financial Factors Matter	A. Berthou & M. Bas
2011-05	FDI from the South: the Role of Institutional Distance and Natural Resources	M. Aleksynska & O. Havrylchyk
2011-04b	What International Monetary System for a fast- changing World Economy?	A. Bénassy-Quéré & J. Pisani-Ferry
2011-04a	Quel système monétaire international pour une économie mondiale en mutation rapide ?	A. Bénassy-Quéré& J. Pisani-Ferry
2011-03	China's Foreign Trade in the Perspective of a more Balanced Economic Growth	G. Gaulier, F. Lemoine & D. Ünal

No	Tittle	Authors
2011-02	The Interactions between the Credit Default Swap and the Bond Markets in Financial Turmoil	V. Coudert & M. Gex
2011-01	Comparative Advantage and Within-Industry Firms Performance	M. Crozet & F. Trionfetti
2010-33	Export Performance and Credit Constraints in China	J. Jarreau & S. Poncet
2010-32	Export Performance of China's domestic Firms: The Role of Foreign Export Spillovers	F. Mayneris & S. Poncet
2010-31	Wholesalers in International Trade	M. Crozet, G. Lalanne & S. Poncet
2010-30	TVA et taux de marge : une analyse empirique sur données d'entreprises	P. Andra, M. Carré & A. Bénassy-Quéré
2010-29	Economic and Cultural Assimilation and Integration of Immigrants in Europe	M. Aleksynska & Y. Algan
2010-28	Les firmes françaises dans le commerce de service	G. Gaulier, E. Milet & D. Mirza
2010-27	The world Economy in 2050: a Tentative Picture	J. Fouré, A. Bénassy-Quéré & L. Fontagné
2010-26	Determinants and Pervasiveness of the Evasion of Customs Duties	S. Jean & C. Mitaritonna
2010-25	On the Link between Credit Procyclicality and Bank Competition	V. Bouvatier, A. Lopez-Villavicencio & V. Mignon
2010-24	Are Derivatives Dangerous? A Literature Survey	G. Capelle-Blancard
2010-23	BACI: International Trade Database at the Product- Level – The 1994-2007 Version	G. Gaulier & Soledad Zignago
2010-22	Indirect Exporters	F. McCann
2010-21	Réformes des retraites en France : évaluation de la mise en place d'un système par comptes notionnels	X. Chojnicki & R. Magnani

No	Tittle	Authors
2010-20	The Art of Exceptions: Sensitive Products in the Doha Negotiations	C. Gouel, C. Mitaritonna & M.P. Ramos
2010-19	Measuring Intangible Capital Investment: an Application to the "French Data"	V. Delbecque & L. Nayman
2010-18	Clustering the Winners: The French Policy of Competitiveness Clusters	L. Fontagné, P. Koenig, F. Mayneris &S. Poncet
2010-17	The Credit Default Swap Market and the Settlement of Large Defauts	V. Coudert & M. Gex
2010-16	The Impact of the 2007-10 Crisis on the Geography of Finance	G. Capelle-Blancard & Y. Tadjeddine
2010-15	Socially Responsible Investing : It Takes more than Words	G. Capelle-Blancard & S. Monjon
2010-14	A Case for Intermediate Exchange-Rate Regimes	V. Salins & A. Bénassy-Quéré
2010-13	Gold and Financial Assets: Are they any Safe Havens in Bear Markets?	V. Coudert & H. Raymond
2010-12	European Export Performance	A. Cheptea, L. Fontagné & S. Zignago
2010-11	The Effects of the Subprime Crisis on the Latin American Financial Markets: An Empirical Assessment	G. Dufrénot, V. Mignon & A. Péguin-Feissolle
2010-10	Foreign Bank Presence and its Effect on Firm Entry and Exit in Transition Economies	O. Havrylchyk
2010-09	The Disorted Effect of Financial Development on International Trade Flows	A. Berthou
2010-08	Exchange Rate Flexibility across Financial Crises	V. Coudert, C. Couharde & V. Mignon
2010-07	Crises and the Collapse of World Trade: The Shift to Lower Quality	A. Berthou & C. Emlinger
2010-06	The heterogeneous effect of international outsourcing on firm productivity	F. McCann
2010-05	Fiscal Expectations on the Stability and Growth Pact: Evidence from Survey Data	M. Poplawski-Ribeiro & J.C. Rüle

No	Tittle	Authors
2010-04	Terrorism Networks and Trade: Does the Neighbor Hurt	J. de Sousa, D. Mirza & T. Verdier
2010-03	Wage Bargaining and the Boundaries of the Multinational Firm	M. Bas & J. Carluccio
2010-02	Estimation of Consistent Multi-Country FEERs	B. Carton & K. Hervé
2010-01	The Elusive Impact of Investing Abroad for Japanese Parent Firms: Can Disaggregation According to FDI Motives Help	L. Hering, T. Inui & S. Poncet

Organisme public d'étude et de recherche en économie internationale, le CEPII est placé auprès du Centre d'Analyse Stratégique. Son programme de travail est fixé par un conseil composé de responsables de l'administration et de personnalités issues des entreprises, des organisations syndicales et de l'Université.

Les *documents de travail* du CEPII mettent à disposition du public professionnel des travaux effectués au CEPII, dans leur phase d'élaboration et de discussion avant publication définitive. Les *documents de travail* sont publiés sous la responsabilité de la direction du CEPII et n'engagent ni le conseil du Centre, ni le Centre d'Analyse Stratégique. Les opinions qui y sont exprimées sont celles des auteurs.

Les *documents de travail* du CEPII sont disponibles sur le site : http://www.cepii.fr.